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EXPLANATORY NOTE

 
On March 15, 2024, XTI Aerospace,
 Inc. (the “Company”) filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Original Form 8-K”) to report, among other events,
 the

completion of its previously announced acquisition of XTI Aircraft Company (“Legacy XTI”) on March 12, 2024.
 
This Current Report on Form
8-K/A amends the Original Form 8-K to include (i) the audited consolidated financial statements of Legacy XTI as of and for the years

ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, (ii) Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of
 Legacy XTI for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and (iii) the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of
 the Company and Legacy XTI as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2023, giving effect to the acquisition of Legacy XTI as if it had
occurred on January 1, 2023.

 
Except as described above,
this Current Report on Form 8-K/A does not amend, update, or change any other items or disclosures in the Original Form 8-K and does

not
purport to reflect any information or events subsequent to the filing date of the Original Form 8-K.
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Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition
of Assets.

 
Financial Information

 
The audited financial
statements of Legacy XTI as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated
herein

by reference.
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information of the Company and Legacy XTI for the year ended December 31, 2023 is attached hereto as

Exhibit 99.2 and
incorporated herein by reference.
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Legacy XTI for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is attached

hereto as Exhibit 99.3.
 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 
(a) Financial statements of business acquired.
 

The audited financial
statements of Legacy XTI as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated
herein
by reference.
 
(b) Pro forma financial information.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information of the Company and Legacy XTI for the year ended December 31, 2023 is attached hereto as
Exhibit 99.2 and
incorporated herein by reference.

 
(d) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit No.   Description
23.1   Consent of Marcum LLP.
99.1   Audited financial statements of XTI Aircraft Company as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
99.2   Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of the Company and Legacy XTI for the year ended December 31, 2023.
99.3   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Legacy XTI for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
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SIGNATURE

 
Pursuant to the requirements
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto

duly authorized.
 
  XTI AEROSPACE, INC.
     
Date: May 28, 2024 By: /s/ Scott Pomeroy
  Name:  Scott Pomeroy
  Title: Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 23.1
 

INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT
 
We consent to the inclusion in this Amendment
No. 1 to Form 8-K of XTI Aerospace, Inc. of our report dated May 28, 2024, which includes an explanatory paragraph as to the
Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, with respect to our audits of the financial statements of XTI Aircraft Company as of December
31, 2023 and 2022 and for the
years then ended, which report appears in such Amendment No.1 to Form 8-K.
 
/s/ Marcum llp

 
Marcum llp

New York, NY
May 28, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING
FIRM

 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
 
XTI Aircraft Company
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets
 of XTI Aircraft Company (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related statements of operations,
stockholders’
 deficit and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023 and the related notes (collectively referred to
 as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years
in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
 
Explanatory Paragraph – Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 2, the
Company has a significant
working capital deficiency, has incurred significant losses and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its
operations. These
conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in
regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
 regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged
to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
/s/ Marcum llp

 
Marcum llp

 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2024.
 
New York, NY
May 28, 2024
 

- 1 -



 

 
XTI AIRCRAFT COMPANY

Balance Sheets
 

   
December 31,

2023    
December 31, 

2022  
             

Assets      
           

Current assets:          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 4,580    $ 114,762 
Other current receivables     101,410      126,949 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     124,998      40,554 

Total current assets     230,988      282,265 
               

Property and equipment, net     11,994      19,593 
Intangible assets, net     266,321      279,434 
               
Total assets   $ 509,303    $ 581,292 

               
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit              

               
Current liabilities:              

Accounts payable   $ 2,495,503    $ 1,211,463 
Related party payables     539,750      366,125 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     1,126,859      782,570 
Accrued interest     559,701      767,196 
Customer deposits     1,349,945      1,349,945 
Convertible and promissory notes, net of unamortized discounts and loan costs of $84,543 and $40,938 as of December 31, 2023

and 2022, respectively     6,689,688      1,620,370 
Warrant liability     497,653      333,344 
JV obligation (Note 4)     -      5,386,751 

Total current liabilities     13,259,099      11,817,764 
               

Convertible and promissory notes, net of current portion and unamortized discounts and loan costs of $1,209,860 and $823,929 as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively     18,545,921      3,595,600 

Loan conversion derivative liability     333,150      150,000 
Total liabilities     32,138,170      15,563,364 
               
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)              
               
Stockholders’ deficit:              

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 35,823,224 and 35,644,024 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively     35,823      35,644 

Additional paid-in capital     26,294,206      17,874,918 
Accumulated deficit     (57,958,896)     (32,892,634)

Total stockholders’ deficit     (31,628,867)     (14,982,072)
               

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit   $ 509,303    $ 581,292 

 
See Independent Auditor’s Report and notes
to financial statements.
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XTI AIRCRAFT COMPANY

Statements of Operations
 
    For the Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2023     2022  
Operating expenses:          

Research and development   $ 1,380,503    $ 2,963,873 
Selling and marketing     721,328      728,823 
General and administrative     3,614,814      10,269,389 
Merger-related transaction costs     1,845,137      419,028 
Amortization of intangible assets     27,560      26,579 

Total operating expenses     7,589,342      14,407,692 
               
Operating loss     (7,589,342)     (14,407,692)
               
Other income (expense):              

Interest expense     (1,141,751)     (789,608)
Amortization of deferred loan costs     (87,955)     (87,955)
Income from stock option forfeitures     -      14,469,884 
Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes     (6,634,898)     - 
Change in fair value of convertible notes     (9,143,801)     - 
Change in fair value of warrant liability     (164,309)     11,948 
Change in fair value of JV obligation     (196,055)     330,501 
Change in fair value of loan conversion derivative liability     (108,151)     - 

Total other income (expense)     (17,476,920)     13,934,770 
               
Net loss   $ (25,066,262)   $ (472,922)

               
Weighted average common shares outstanding- basic and diluted     44,529,364      41,856,170 
Net loss per common share – basic and diluted   $ (0.56)   $ (0.01)

 
See Independent Auditor’s Report and notes
to financial statements.
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XTI
AIRCRAFT COMPANY

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’
Deficit
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

 

    Common Stock    
Additional 

Paid-In     Accumulated        
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Total  
Balance at January 1, 2022     35,602,391    $ 35,602    $ 23,870,771    $ (32,419,712)   $ (8,513,339)
Proceeds from sale of common stock     28,700    $ 29    $ 50,196           $ 50,225 
Issuance of common stock as previously accrued compensation     12,933    $ 13    $ 19,383           $ 19,396 
Stock-based compensation                 $ 8,252,037           $ 8,252,037 
Forfeitures of stock options                 $ (14,469,884)          $ (14,469,884)
Issuance of warrants with convertible notes                 $ 152,415           $ 152,415 
Net loss                        $ (472,922)   $ (472,922)
Balance at December 31, 2022     35,644,024    $ 35,644    $ 17,874,918    $ (32,892,634)   $ (14,982,072)
Proceeds from sale of common stock     179,200    $ 179    $ 223,821           $ 224,000 
Stock-based compensation                 $ 1,644,908           $ 1,644,908 
Issuance of warrants with convertible notes                 $ 967,753           $ 967,753 
JV obligation reclassified to equity (Note 4)                   5,582,806      -      5,582,806 
Net loss                        $ (25,066,262)   $ (25,066,262)
Balance at December 31, 2023     35,823,224    $ 35,823    $ 26,294,206    $ (57,958,896)   $ (31,628,867)

 
See Independent Auditor’s Report and notes
to financial statements.
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XTI AIRCRAFT COMPANY

Statements of Cash Flows
 
    For the Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2023     2022  
Cash flows from operating activities          

Net loss   $ (25,066,262)   $ (472,922)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              
Depreciation expense     10,528      12,038 
Amortization of intangible assets     27,560      26,597 
Amortization of deferred loan costs     87,955      87,955 
Amortization of debt discount     525,261      412,969 
Stock-based compensation     1,644,908      8,252,037 
Income from stock option forfeitures     -      (14,469,884)
Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes     6,634,898      - 
Change in fair value of convertible notes     9,143,801      - 
Change in fair value of warrant liability     164,309      (11,948)
Change in fair value of JV obligation     196,056      (330,501)
Change in fair value of loan conversion derivative liability     108,151      - 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:              
    Other current receivables     25,539      43,258 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (84,444)     38,836 
Accounts payable     1,267,915      757,220 
Related party payables     189,750      (458,875)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     344,288      658,472 
Customer deposits     -      250,000 
Accrued interest     599,467      376,956 

      20,885,942      (4,354,870)
Net cash used in operating activities     (4,180,320)     (4,827,792)

               
Cash flows from investing activities              

Purchase of computer equipment     (2,930)     - 
Patents     (14,447)     (4,067)

Net cash used in investing activities     (17,377)     (4,067)
               

Cash flows from financing activities              
Borrowings from convertible notes     750,000      600,000 
Borrowings from promissory notes     3,127,500      - 
Payments on promissory notes     (13,985)     (20,000)
Proceeds from sale of common stock     224,000      50,225 

Net cash provided by financing activities     4,087,515      630,225 
               

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (110,182)     (4,201,634)
               

Cash and cash equivalents- beginning of year     114,762      4,316,396 
               

Cash and cash equivalents- end of year   $ 4,580    $ 114,762 

               
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities:              

Warrants issued with convertible notes   $ 967,753    $ 152,415 
Warrants issued with common stock   $ 121,386    $ - 
Conversion of accrued interest to convertible note payable   $ 807,278    $ - 
Reclassification of JV obligation to equity   $ 5,582,806    $ - 
Issuance of common stock as previously accrued compensation   $ -    $ 19,396 

 
Cash paid for interest expense was $16,707 and $0 during the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 
 See Independent Auditor’s Report and
notes to financial statements.
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XTI
AIRCRAFT COMPANY
Notes
to Financial Statements

 
Note 1 - Description of Business
 
XTI Aircraft Company (the “Company,”
“XTI,” “we,” or “us”) is a development-stage aircraft manufacturer incorporated in Delaware in 2009
to develop a vertical takeoff and
landing (VTOL) aircraft that takes off and lands like a helicopter and cruises like a fixed-wing business
 aircraft. XTI is creating a revolutionary solution for the aviation
industry. Once developed, this VTOL airplane, the TriFan 600 will
offer point-to-point travel to reduce total travel time by decreasing time spent driving to and from an airport.
 
Since inception, the Company has been engaged
primarily in developing the design and engineering concepts for the TriFan 600 and seeking funds from private investors to
fund that development.
 
On March 12, 2024, we completed a merger transaction
(“XTI Merger”) with Inpixon Inc. in a go public transaction (refer to Note 11).
 
Note 2 - Going Concern and Management’s Plans and
Significant Accounting Policies
 
The accompanying financial statements have been
prepared on a going-concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary
course
of business.
 
The Company evaluated whether there were any conditions
and events that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
twelve months
 from the date these financial statements were issued. Since inception, the Company has incurred significant operating losses, has an accumulated
deficit of
approximately $57,959,000 as of December 31, 2023, and has negative operating cash flows. The Company is currently in the development
stage and has not generated any
revenue since its inception, and we do not expect to generate revenue until the commercialization of the
TriFan aircraft. These are indicators of substantial doubt. We expect the
rate at which we will incur losses to be significantly higher
 in future periods as we, among other things, certify and assemble our aircraft, deploy our facilities, build up
inventories of parts and
 components for our aircraft, increase our sales and marketing activities, develop our manufacturing infrastructure and increase our general
 and
administrative functions to support our growing operations. These efforts may not result in the Company reaching profitability, which
would further increase our losses. In
addition, to the extent that we are unable to pay our obligations under our secured promissory note
with the U.S. Small Business Administration, or any other future secured
debt, the creditor could proceed against any or all of the collateral
securing our indebtedness to it.
 
We have funded our operations primarily with proceeds
from private offerings of our common stock and secured and unsecured debt instruments. Our history of operating
losses and cash uses,
our projections of the level of cash that will be required for our operations to reach profitability, and the terms of the financing transactions
 that we
completed in the past, may impair our ability to raise capital on terms that we consider reasonable and at the levels that we
will require over the coming months. We cannot
provide any assurances that we will be able to secure additional funding from public or
private offerings or debt financings on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable
to obtain the requisite amount of financing
needed to fund our planned operations, it would have a material adverse effect on our business and ability to continue as a going
concern,
and we may have to curtail, or even to cease, certain operations.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make
estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during each of the reporting periods. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. The Company’s significant estimates
consist of :
 
the valuation of stock-based compensation;
 
the valuation of equity securities;
 
the valuation of warrant liabilities;
 
the valuation of JV obligation;
 
the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets;
 
the valuation of convertible notes, at fair value, and
 
the valuation of loan conversion derivatives.
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XTI
AIRCRAFT COMPANY
Notes
to Financial Statements

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents
consists of holdings with a maturity of less than 90 days when purchased. The Company continually monitors its positions with, and
the
credit quality of, the financial institutions with which it holds cash and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
Company had no cash equivalents.
 
Other Current Receivables
 
Other Current Receivables are stated at the amount
 the Company expects to collect. The Company recognizes an allowance for credit losses to ensure receivables are not
overstated due to
un-collectability. Reserves for credit losses are maintained based on a variety of factors, including the length of time the receivables
are past due, significant
one-time events and historical experience. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have an allowance
 for credit losses as receivables, which mostly
comprised of IRS tax refunds, are expected to be fully collected.
 
Property and Equipment, net
 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less
 accumulated depreciation and amortization. The Company depreciates its property and equipment using the straight-line
method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful
life of the asset or the
initial lease term. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs, which do not extend the economic useful life of
 the related assets, are charged to operations as incurred, and
expenditures, which extend the economic life, are capitalized. When assets
are retired, or otherwise disposed of, the costs and related accumulated depreciation or amortization
are removed from the accounts and
any gain or loss on disposal is recognized.
 
Intangible Assets
 
Intangible assets are recorded at historical cost.
 These assets are related to legal costs incurred in pursuing patents and trademarks to protect the Company’s intellectual
property.
If the Company determines it will abandon these efforts, or if the United States Patent and Trademark Office indicates the patents or
trademarks will not be accepted,
all capitalized cost would be expensed immediately. The Company amortizes patents over a 15-year life
once awarded. The weighted average of the remaining amortization
period of the Company’s current patents is approximately 9.5 years.
The Company does not amortize its trademarks as these trademarks are expected to contribute to cash flows
indefinitely and the associated
costs of renewal are not significant.
 
Long-Lived Assets
 
Long-lived assets principally include intangible
assets. The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying
value of the asset may not be recoverable.
  
An impairment is measured by comparing expected
future cash flows (undiscounted and before interest) to the carrying value of the assets. If impairment exists, the amount of
impairment
is measured as the difference between the net book value of the assets and their estimated fair value. The Company believes that no impairment
of any long-lived
assets existed as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
 
Leases
 
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at its inception.
Operating lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of
lease payments over the lease
 term. The Company generally uses their incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the lease commencement date in
determining the present value of future payments, because the implicit rate of the lease is generally not known. Right-of-use assets related
to the Company’s operating lease
liabilities are measured at lease inception based on the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any prepaid lease payments and less any lease incentives. The Company’s
lease terms that are used in determining their operating
lease liabilities at lease inception may include options to extend or terminate the leases when it is reasonably certain that
the Company
will exercise such options. The Company amortizes their right-of-use assets as operating lease expense generally on a straight-line basis.
The Company uses the
Practical Expediency and applies the standard for leases with terms of more than 12 months.
 
Rent expense under the corporate office operating
lease, which is month-to-month, totaled $4,677 and $3,582 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Office rent expense
is included in general and administrative expenses.
 
The Company also had an operating lease for software,
which was for a 12-month term and expired on December 10, 2023. Under this software lease, the Company recognized
expense of $74,098 for
the year ended December 31, 2023, which is included in research and development expenses. The Company also recognized lease expense for
software
of $112,695 for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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XTI
AIRCRAFT COMPANY
Notes
to Financial Statements

 
In December 2023, the Company entered into a new
 replacement software lease with the same leasing company for a 12-month term with monthly lease payments of
approximately $7,900 commencing
in March 2024. The Company will make a total of approximately $71,000 in lease payments in 2024 relating to the replacement software
lease.
 
Customer Deposits
 
The Company periodically enters into aircraft
reservation agreements that include a deposit placed by a potential customer. The deposits serve to prioritize orders when the
aircraft
becomes available for delivery. Customers making deposits are not obligated to purchase aircraft until they execute a definitive purchase
agreement. Customers may
request return of their deposit any time up until the execution of a purchase agreement. The Company records
such advance deposits as a liability and defers the related revenue
recognition until delivery of an aircraft occurs, if any.
 
Convertible Instruments
 
GAAP requires companies to bifurcate conversion
options from their host instruments and account for them as free-standing derivative financial instruments according to
certain criteria.
The criteria include circumstances in which (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument are not clearly
and closely related
to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument that embodies both the embedded
derivative instrument and the host contract is not re-
measured at fair value under otherwise applicable GAAP changes in fair value reported
 in earnings as they occur and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as the
embedded derivative instrument would be considered
a derivative instrument. An exception to this rule is when the host instrument is deemed to be conventional as that term is
described
under applicable GAAP.

 
When the Company has determined that the embedded
 conversion options should not be bifurcated from their host instruments, the Company records, when necessary,
discounts to convertible
notes for the intrinsic value of conversion options embedded in debt instruments based upon the differences between the fair value of
the underlying
common stock at the commitment date of the note transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the note. Debt
discounts under these arrangements are amortized
over the term of the related debt to their stated date of redemption.
 
When the Company has determined the embedded conversion
options should be bifurcated from their host instruments, the Company records a free-standing derivative asset or
liability measured at
fair value at issuance. Subsequent to initial measurement, the Company will re-measure the derivative asset or liability at fair value
at each reporting date
with changes in the fair value recognized in earnings.
 
Warrant Liabilities
and Common Stock Warrants
 
Freestanding warrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock are classified as liabilities on the balance sheets at their estimated fair value when the warrant holder
has the option to elect to receive cash value for the warrants and, therefore, may obligate the Company to transfer assets at some point
 in the future. Such common stock
warrants are recorded at fair value upon issuance and are subject to remeasurement to their respective
estimated fair values. At the end of each reporting period, changes in the
estimated fair value of such common stock warrants are recorded
in the statements of operations. The Company will continue to adjust the liability associated with the liability
classified common stock
warrants for changes in the estimated fair value until the earlier of the exercise or expiration of the common stock warrants.
 
The Company issued common stock warrants in
connection with the execution of certain equity and debt financings during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
Company
also issued a common stock warrant in exchange for a conditional aircraft purchase order by a regional airline during the year ended
December 31, 2022. These
common stock warrants were accounted for at fair value at the date of issuance in additional paid-in
capital. The fair value of these common stock warrants was determined
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (see Note 8).
 
Research and Development
 
Research and development costs of the Company
are expensed as incurred. These costs relate to the design and creation of the TriFan 600 aircraft.
 
Advertising Costs
 
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. For
 the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred advertising costs, which are included in selling and
marketing expenses,
of $13,485 and $6,829, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation
 in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). Under the fair value recognition
provisions
of ASC 718, stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense
ratably over the requisite
service period, which is generally the option vesting period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the fair value of stock options.
 
The Company measures compensation expense for
its non-employee stock-based compensation under ASC 718. The fair value of the option issued or committed to be issued is
used to measure
the transaction, as this is more reliable than the fair value of the services received. The fair value is measured at the value of the
Company’s common stock or
stock award on the date that the commitment for performance by the counterparty has been reached or the
counterparty’s performance is complete. The fair value of the equity
instrument is charged directly to stock-based compensation
expense and credited to additional paid-in capital.
 
The assumptions used in calculating the fair value
 of stock-based awards represent management’s best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management’s
judgment. As a result, if factors change and management uses different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be materially
different for future
awards.
 
The expected life of stock options was estimated
using the “simplified method,” as the Company has limited historical information to develop reasonable expectations about
future exercise patterns and employment duration for its stock options grants. The simplified method is based on the average of the vesting
tranches and the contractual life of
each grant. For stock price volatility, the Company uses comparable public companies as a basis for
its expected volatility to calculate the fair value of options grants. The risk-
free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with
a term approximating the expected life of the option. The estimation of the number of stock awards that will ultimately
vest requires
judgment, and to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the Company’s current estimates, such amounts are recognized
as an adjustment in the
period in which estimates are revised.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company accounts for income taxes using the
asset and liability method. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable
to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in the tax rate is
recognized in income or expense in the period that the change is effective. Income tax benefits are recognized
when it is probable that
the deduction will be sustained. A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred
tax asset will
either expire before the Company is able to realize the benefit, or that future deductibility is uncertain.
 
Interest and penalties associated with tax positions
are recorded in the period assessed as general and administrative expenses. However, no interest or penalties have been
assessed as of
December 31, 2023.
 
Net Loss per Share
 
Net earnings or loss per share is computed
by dividing net income or loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, excluding shares
subject to redemption or forfeiture. The Company presents basic and diluted net earnings or loss per share. Diluted net earnings or
loss per share reflect the actual weighted
average of common shares issued and outstanding during the period, adjusted for
potentially dilutive securities outstanding. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the
computation of the diluted net
loss per share if their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. As the Company is in a net loss position as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
all dilutive
items are antidilutive and therefore basic net loss per share equals diluted net loss per share. Potentially dilutive
items outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 include
stock options, warrants, and convertible notes.
 
The JV commitment shares of 3,342,998 were included
 in basic EPS as of December 31, 2023 when the related liability instrument was reclassified to equity upon the
termination of the joint
venture on May 31, 2023 (see Note 4). Additionally, basic EPS for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, included 6,817,474 of warrant
shares
since the exercise price was $0.01 per share.
 
The following table summarizes the number of common
shares and common share equivalents excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share for the years
ended December 31,
2023 and 2022:
 

   
December 31, 

2023    
December 31, 

2022  
Options     12,370,274      19,086,943 
Warrants     1,656,490      1,180,518 
Convertible notes     7,893,804      5,871,575 
JV commitment shares     -      3,225,599 
      21,920,568      29,364,635 
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Fair Value Measurements
 
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements (“ASC
820”), provides guidance on the development and disclosure of fair value measurements. The Company follows this authoritative
guidance for fair value measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted
accounting principles in the United
States, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance requires fair value measurements
 be classified and disclosed in one of the following three
categories:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities.
 
Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs
not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs which are supported
by little or no market activity and values determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar
techniques,
as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation.
 
Fair value measurements discussed herein are based
upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information available to management as of and during the years ended
December 31, 2023
and 2022.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
 
In July 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-03,
 “Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205), Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220),
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (Topic 480), Equity (Topic 505), and Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic
718)”, which updates codification on how an entity
would apply the scope guidance in paragraph 718-10-15-3 to determine
whether profits interest and similar awards should be accounted for in accordance with Topic 718,
Compensation—Stock
Compensation. The effective date of this update is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods
within those fiscal
years. The Company is currently assessing potential impacts of ASU 2023-03 and does not expect the adoption of
this guidance will have a material impact on its financial
statements and disclosures.
 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09,
“Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures”, which amends the disclosure to address investor
requests
for more transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation
and income taxes paid
information and includes certain other amendments to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures. For entities
other than public business entities, the requirements will
be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2025. The guidance
will be applied on a prospective basis with the option to apply the standard retrospectively.
Early adoption is permitted. The Company
is currently assessing potential impacts of ASU 2023-09 and does not expect the adoption of this guidance will have a material
impact
on its financial statements and disclosures.
 
Note 3 – Balance Sheet Components
 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted
of the following:
 

   
December 31, 

2023    
December 31, 

2022  
Prepaid software   $ 89,687    $ 19,917 
Prepaid insurance     13,345      17,637 
Deposits     21,966      3,000 
    $ 124,998    $ 40,554 
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Property and Equipment, Net
 
Property and equipment as of December 31, 2023
and 2022 consisted of the following:
 

   
December 31, 

2023    
December 31, 

2022  
Computer and office equipment   $ 33,303    $ 33,303 
Subscale unmanned aircraft in process     2,929      - 
Total     36,232      33,303 
Less: accumulated depreciation     (24,238)     (13,710)
    $ 11,994    $ 19,593 
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022 was $10,528 and $12,038, respectively, and is included in general and administrative expenses.
 
Intangible Assets, Net
 
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 and
2022 consisted of the following:
 

   
December 31, 

2023    
December 31, 

2022  
Patents   $ 413,402    $ 398,955 
Trademarks     7,513      7,513 
Total     420,915      406,468 
Less: accumulated amortization     (154,594)     (127,034)
    $ 266,321    $ 279,434 
 
Amortization expense of $27,560 and $26,597 has
been recorded for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative
expenses.
 
Amortization expense on intangible assets over
the next five years is anticipated to be as follows:
 
    Amount  
2024   $ 27,560 
2025     27,560 
2026     27,560 
2027     27,560 
2028     27,560 
    $ 137,800 
 
Accrued and Other Current Liabilities
 
Accrued and other current liabilities consisted
of the following:
 

   
December 31, 

2023    
December 31, 

2022  
Accrued bonuses   $ 305,350    $ 305,350 
Accrued compensation and benefits     631,172      452,747 
Accrued payroll taxes     17,703      443 
Accrued professional fees     101,486      24,030 
Software lease obligation     71,146      - 
    $ 1,126,857    $ 782,570 
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Note 4 – Joint Venture
 
Effective May 31, 2021, the Company and Xeriant
Inc. entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (“Agreement”) and other ancillary agreements under which Xeriant agreed to
provide
$10 million of funding to the Joint Venture (the “Intended Contribution”) to enable XTI to complete the preliminary design
review of XTI’s TriFan 600 aircraft. In
furtherance of the purpose of the Agreement, the Company granted a non-exclusive license
to the joint venture to utilize XTI’s technology to complete the preliminary design
of the aircraft. Xeriant provided a total of
approximately $5.4 million of funding under the Agreement and ceased providing funding in December 2021. The Agreement and the
ancillary
 agreements expired by their terms on May 31, 2023. The relevant agreements require that XTI’s technology and the assets developed
 by the joint venture be
transferred back to XTI in exchange for Xeriant’s interest in the joint venture. Although Xeriant did not
make the full Intended Contribution, it is entitled to receive a pro rata
portion of the agreed 10% of XTI common stock it would have
received in exchange for its joint venture interest had it made the full Intended Contribution.
 
The Company considered authoritative accounting
guidance including ASC 815, Derivatives and hedging (“ASC 815”), and determined the obligation to deliver shares to
Xeriant
 is a freestanding equity contract that is not indexed to its own stock and, therefore, requires liability classification. As such, the
Company determined the liability
should be marked to fair value each reporting period (refer to Note 8) from the date of inception through
May 31, 2023, the date the joint venture terminated by its terms, which
resulted in the equity consideration to settle the obligation
becoming fixed at 3,342,998 shares. As of May 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated ASC 815 and determined the
equity contract should be reclassified
from a liability instrument to equity, since Xeriant had all rights to those shares as of May 31, 2023.
 
In satisfaction of its obligations and immediately
prior to the effective time of the XTI Merger in March 2024, the Company issued 3,342,998 shares (representing 5.4% of
XTI’s fully
diluted outstanding shares as of the joint venture expiration date of May 31, 2023) to Xeriant in exchange for Xeriant’s interest
in the joint venture.
 
Note 5 – Convertible and Promissory Notes
 
The following table summarizes the status of the
Company’s convertible and promissory notes as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:
 

   
December 31,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Current:            
Convertible Note – 2021 [a] – related party   $ 1,079,044    $ 1,007,323 
Convertible Note – 2017 [b]1     -      30,000 
Convertible Note – 2018 [c]1     -      550,000 
Convertible Note – 2019 [d]1     -      60,000 
Promissory Note – 2019 [e]     -      13,985 
Promissory Note – 2023 [f] – related party     125,000      - 
Convertible Note – 2021 [g]     2,500,000      - 
Promissory Note - 2023     3,070,187      - 
Unamortized Discounts     (49,786)     (40,938)
Unamortized Loan Costs     (34,757)     - 

Current convertible and promissory notes   $ 6,689,688    $ 1,620,370 
               

Long-term:              
Convertible Note – 2021 [g]     -      2,500,000 
Convertible Note – 2017 [h]     1,986,918      1,254,529 
Convertible Note – 2022 [i]     600,000      600,000 
Convertible Note – 2023 [j]     300,000      - 
Convertible notes, at fair value1     16,803,863      - 
SBA loan     65,000      65,000 
Unamortized Discounts     (1,209,860)     (701,217)
Unamortized Loan Costs     -      (122,712)

Long-term convertible and promissory notes   $ 18,545,921    $ 3,595,600 
 
1 convertible notes were amended on November 1, 2023 to amend
conversion terms and to extend the maturity date which resulted in long-term balance sheet classification.

For accounting purposes, the
 amendments were treated as an extinguishment and reissuance of debt which resulted in the notes being restated at fair value as of the
amendment date and further marked to market as of December 31, 2023.
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The future scheduled principal maturities of long-term convertible
and promissory notes for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2023 are as follows:
 
2024   $ - 
2025   $ 900,000 
2026   $ 2,626,918 
2027   $ - 
2028   $ - 
 
Convertible Note – 2021 [a] – related
party
 
On December 31, 2021, the Company and its Chairman
and majority stockholder, David Brody, agreed to combine existing notes and a revolver into a new convertible note.
The convertible note
has a principal amount of $1,007,323 and accrues interest at a rate of 4% compounded annually, provided that on and after the maturity
dates (noted
below) interest shall accrue from and after such date on the unpaid principal and all accrued but unpaid interest of the
note at a rate of 10% per annum.
 
On October 1, 2023, the existing convertible note
entered into on December 31, 2021 was replaced by a new convertible note with a principal balance of $1,079,044 (prior loan
principal
of $1,007,323 plus accrued interest of $71,721) and with a maturity date of April 1, 2024 (as amended). The replacement convertible note
accrues interest at a rate of
4% compounded annually, provided that on and after the maturity dates interest shall accrue from and after
such date on the unpaid principal and all accrued but unpaid interest
of the note at a rate of 10% per annum. At any time prior to the
maturity date, the noteholder may convert all or a portion of the outstanding note balance into shares of the
Company at a conversion
price equal to $1.00.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $42,219 and $40,293, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
the accrued interest
payable on this obligation was $10,791 and $40,293, respectively.
 
Convertible Note – 2017 [b]
 
During 2017, the Company entered into a convertible
note with a stockholder who is now an employee of the Company. The note has a principal amount of $30,000 and
accrues interest at a rate
of 10.0% per annum, provided that on and after the maturity date, interest shall accrue from and after such date on the unpaid principal
and all accrued
but unpaid interest of the note at a rate of 12.0% per annum.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $4,120 and $3,745, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 accrued interest
payable on
this obligation was $743 and $11,200, respectively.
 
The note’s maturity date and conversion
 features were amended on November 1, 2023, as further described under “2023 Amendments to Convertible Note – 2017 [b],
Convertible Note - 2018 [c], and Convertible Note – 2019 [d]” within this note section.
 
Convertible Note – 2018 [c]
 
During 2018, the Company entered into a convertible
note with a consultant and warrant holder of the Company. The note has a principal amount of $550,000 and accrues
interest at a rate of
10.0% per annum, provided that on and after the maturity date (noted below) interest shall accrue from and after such date on the unpaid
principal and all
accrued but unpaid interest of the note at a rate of 12.0% per annum.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $81,868 and $74,425, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, accrued
interest payable on
this obligation was $14,674 and $268,676, respectively.
 
The note’s maturity date and conversion
 features were amended on November 1, 2023, as further described under “2023 Amendments to Convertible Note – 2017 [b],
Convertible Note - 2018 [c], and Convertible Note – 2019 [d]” within this note section.
 
Convertible Note – 2019 [d]
 
During 2019, the Company entered into a convertible
note with a consultant and stockholder of the Company. The note has a principal amount of $60,000 and accrues interest
at a rate of 10.0%
per annum, provided that on and after the maturity date (noted below) interest shall accrue from and after such date on the unpaid principal
and all accrued
but unpaid interest of the note at a rate of 12.0% per annum.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $8,751 and $7,956, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, accrued interest
payable on this
obligation was $1,459 and $27,514, respectively.
 
The note’s maturity date and conversion
 features were amended on November 1, 2023, as further described under “2023 Amendments to Convertible Note – 2017 [b],
Convertible Note - 2018 [c], and Convertible Note – 2019 [d]” within this note section.
 
Promissory Note – 2019 [e]
 
During 2019, the Company converted outstanding
payable balances owed to a consultant and stockholder of the Company into a promissory note. The Company repaid the
outstanding principal
and accrued interest balances in full during August 2023. The note had a principal amount of $85,984 and accrued interest at a rate of
5.0% per annum.
The principal balance outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $0 and $13,985, respectively.
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Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $149 and $1,096, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, accrued interest
payable on this
obligation was $0 and $11,802, respectively.
  
Promissory Note – 2023 [f] – related
party
 
On January 5, 2023, the Company entered into a
promissory note agreement with David Brody. The note has a principal amount of $125,000 and accrues interest at a rate of 5%
per annum.
The note matures on April 30, 2024 (as amended).
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was $6,324. As of December 31, 2023, accrued interest payable on this obligation was $6,234.
 
Convertible Note – 2021 [g]
 
During 2021, the Company entered into convertible
notes with a syndicate of investors. The notes have a combined principal amount of $2,500,000 and accrue interest at a rate
of 4.0% per
annum. In conjunction with the convertible notes, the Company issued stock options for the purchase of a total of 525,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise
price of $1.50. The options are exercisable upon the date of grant through the contractual term of 10 years. The
noteholders have the right to receive repayment of the note at
the earlier of (i) a change of control or (ii) at the note’s maturity
date of May 23, 2024 in either cash or in shares of common stock of the Company at a value of $1.00 per share.
The share conversion may
occur prior to May 23, 2024 either (i) automatically upon the occurrence of the Company raising $10 million in financing, or (ii)
at the option of the
noteholder upon a change of control.
 
This convertible note is presented on the balance
sheet net of (i) unamortized discounts of $49,786 related to options issued in conjunction with this convertible note, and
(ii) unamortized
loan costs of $34,757 related to the origination costs of the loan, for a net carrying balance of $2,415,457 as of December 31, 2023.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $100,000 and $100,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the accrued
interest payable
balance on this obligation was $260,484 and $160,484, respectively.
 
Promissory Note – 2023
 
On July 24, 2023 and in conjunction with the merger
agreement (see Note 10), the Company and Inpixon agreed to consolidate existing promissory notes into a new Senior
Secured Promissory
Note (“Inpixon Promissory Note”) with an initial principal balance of $535,407. Prior to subsequent amendments, the
Inpixon Promissory Note provided
an aggregate principal amount up to $2,313,407.
 
The Inpixon Promissory Note bears interest at
10% per annum, compounded annually, and for each future loan, beginning on the date the future loan is advanced to XTI.
 
The outstanding principal amount under the
Inpixon Promissory Note, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, shall be due and payable upon the earlier of (a) December
31, 2023, (b) when declared due and payable by Inpixon upon the occurrence of an event of default, or (c) within three business days
following termination of the Merger
Agreement (i) by XTI because the XTI Board adopts a superior proposal prior to delivering the
XTI Stockholder Consent, or (ii) by Inpixon because the XTI Board has made a
change in recommendation, or XTI has breached or failed
to perform in any material respect any of its covenants and agreements regarding obtaining its required stockholder
approval or
non-solicitation. The Inpixon Promissory Note will be forgiven and of no further force if the Merger Agreement is terminated by the
Inpixon Board because it
adopts a superior proposal prior to obtaining the required Inpixon stockholder approval, subject to
 Inpixon’s rights and remedies under the Promissory Note, the Security
Agreement, and the Merger Agreement. If the Merger
Agreement is terminated by XTI because the Inpixon Board makes a change in recommendation or Inpixon is in material
breach of its
 covenants and agreements regarding obtaining its required stockholder approval or non-solicitation, the maturity date of the Inpixon
Promissory Note will be
extended to December 31, 2024.
 
The Security Agreement grants Inpixon a first
priority security interest in and lien upon all of XTI’s property to secure the repayment of the Inpixon Promissory Note.
 
On November 13, 2023, the Inpixon Promissory
Note was amended and restated to provide for an additional $700,000 in future loans. The restated principal balance of the
Inpixon
Promissory Note per the first amendment was $2,370,187, which included the total of all previous cash advances made by Inpixon to
XTI plus accrued interest on those
cash advances through November 13, 2023. The maximum principal amount per the amended and
restated Inpixon Promissory Note is $3,070,187, which was calculated based
on the restated principal balance plus an aggregate of
$700,000 in future loans. The interest rate and maturity date terms were not amended from the original note agreement
dated July 24,
2023.
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Subsequent to November 13, 2023, Inpixon advanced
an additional $700,000 to the Company, which increased the principal balance to $3,070,187 as of December 31, 2023.
 
On January 30, 2024, the Company and Inpixon executed
a second amendment to the Inpixon Promissory Note which extended the maturity date to March 31, 2024 and
increased the maximum available
for borrowing under the note to $4,000,000. As the Company became a subsidiary of XTI Aerospace because of the XTI Merger, both parties
intend to legally cancel this intercompany (post-merger) promissory note during the second quarter of 2024.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was $105,719. As of December 31, 2023, accrued interest payable on this obligation was $38,032.
 
Convertible Note – 2017 [h]
 
During 2017, the Company entered into a convertible
note with a stock options holder and former board member of the Company. The note had a principal amount of $715,000
and accrued interest
at a rate of 10.0% per annum. On April 1, 2021, the principal and accrued interest on this note (totaling $1,029,539) plus an additional
$225,000 of new
cash were combined into a new convertible note with a principal balance of $1,254,529. The new note bears interest at
a rate of 10.0% per annum. The original convertible note
was cancelled as part of this new note.
 
On May 9, 2023, the principal and accrued interest
of the existing convertible note plus an additional $450,000 in cash were combined into a new replacement convertible note
(the “Replacement
Note”) with a principal amount of $1,986,918. The aforementioned convertible note entered into on April 1, 2021 was cancelled in
connection with the
issuance of the Replacement Note. The Replacement Note accrues interest at a rate of 10% per annum and matures on
December 31, 2026. The noteholder has the right to
receive repayment of the principal balance plus accrued interest at any time prior
to the maturity date in shares of common stock of the Company at a value of $1.00 per share.
If the noteholder has not provided the Company
with prior written notice to either convert the note into shares or to demand cash repayment of the note on the maturity date, the
remaining
principal balance of the note plus accrued interest will automatically convert into shares on the maturity date.
 
In conjunction with the replacement note, the
Company cancelled 627,264 warrants previously issued to the noteholder and issued 993,459 new warrants with an exercise price
of $1.50.
The new warrants are exercisable upon the date of grant through the expiration date of May 9, 2028.
 
The replacement note is presented on the balance
sheet net of unamortized discounts of $880,945 related to warrants issued in conjunction with this convertible note, for a net
carrying
balance of $1,105,973 as of December 31, 2023.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $181,090 and $134,862, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, accrued
interest payable on
this obligation was $127,654 and $228,952, respectively.
 
Convertible Note – 2022 [i]
 
On October 21, 2022, the Company entered into
a convertible note agreement with an existing convertible note and stock option holder. The note has a principal amount of
$600,000 and
accrues interest at a rate of 10.0% per annum.
 
In conjunction with the convertible note, the
 Company issued warrants for the purchase of a total of 150,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.92. The
warrants are
exercisable upon the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years.
 
The note matures on October 21, 2025. The holder
of the note has the right to receive repayment of the note upon maturity in either cash or in shares of common stock of the
Company at
a value of $1.25 per share. However, the share conversion may occur prior to October 21, 2025 at the option of the holder, or automatically
converted by the
Company upon the occurrence of any of the following:
 
  ● Qualified Financing involving the sale of equity capital of the Company resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of at least $10 million, at which time the

principal of the note and any accrued interest would convert into common shares at a conversion price equal to 75% of the cash price per share paid by purchasers
participating in the Qualified Financing.

 
  ● Qualified Business Combination involving a merger, share exchange, or reorganization not involving a change of control, at which time the principal of the note and

any accrued interest would convert into common shares at a conversion price equal to the lower of (a) $1.25 or (b) 75% of the per share value imputed to the common
stock in the Qualified Business Combination.
 

  ● Change of Control – a sale, conveyance, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets or a merger of the Company with or into, or
consolidation with, any other entity, as a result of which less than 50% of the voting power of the surviving entity is held by persons that are stockholders of the
Company, at which time the principal of the note and any accrued interest would convert into common shares at a conversion price equal to 75% of the cash price per
share imputed to the common stock in the Change of Control.
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As the number of shares issued at settlement of
the convertible note fluctuates based on the fair value of the Company’s equity shares under a Qualified Financing, Qualified
Business
Combination, or Change in Control scenario, the convertible note is classified as share-settled debt under accounting guidelines. Although
the note may be settled in a
variable number of shares in the event of a conversion, the predominant or likely event that would cause
 share settlement would be a Qualified Financing or a Qualified
Business Combination, which are within the control of the Company. Therefore,
there is not an obligation (either conditionally or unconditionally) to deliver a variable number
of shares.
 
In determining the accounting treatment of the
note’s share-settled redemption features, the Company considered authoritative accounting guidance including ASC 815-15,
Derivatives
and Hedging - Embedded Derivatives, which provides accounting guidance on when an embedded component should be separated from its
host instrument and
accounted for separately as a derivative. Based on this guidance, the Company determined the share-settled redemption
features are not clearly and closely related to the debt
host because the features require settlement at a premium above 10% of par, which
is deemed to be substantial, and is a contingently redeemable put feature that accelerates the
repayment of principal. As such, the Company
determined the redemption features should be bifurcated and accounted for separately as a derivative.
 
At issuance of the note, the bifurcated embedded
derivative liability was measured at a fair value amount of $150,000, which is classified as Loan Conversion Derivatives
within the accompanying
balances sheets, and the remaining issuance proceeds were allocated to the note. Subsequent to the initial measurement, the Company will
re-measure
the derivative at fair value at each reporting date with changes to the fair value recognized in earning (see Note 8). Additionally,
 the Company will accrete the note to its
redemption value from the issuance date.
 
This convertible note is presented on the balance
sheet at principal of $600,000, less unamortized discounts of $234,453 related to the embedded redemption feature and the
warrants issued
in conjunction with this convertible note for a net carrying balance of $365,547 as of December 31, 2023.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $60,000 and $11,836, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, accrued
interest payable on
this obligation was 71,836 and $11,836, respectively.
 
Convertible Note – 2023 [j]
 
On January 30, 2023, the Company entered into
a convertible note agreement with an existing convertible note and stock option holder. The note has a principal amount of
$300,000 and
accrues interest at a rate of 10.0% per annum.
 
In conjunction with the convertible note, the
Company issued warrants for the purchase of a total of 39,063 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.92. The warrants
are exercisable
upon the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years.
 
The note matures on October 21, 2025 and has similar
conversion terms as Convertible Note – 2022 [i], which resulted in a bifurcated embedded derivative liability at a fair
value amount
of $75,000 being recognized as of the note’s issuance date. Subsequent to the initial measurement, the Company will re-measure the
derivative at fair value at
each reporting date with changes to the fair value recognized in earnings (see Note 8). Additionally, the
Company will accrete the note to its redemption value from the issuance
date.
 
This convertible note is presented on the balance
sheet at a principal amount of $300,000, less unamortized discounts of $94,462 related to the embedded redemption feature
and the warrants
issued in conjunction with this convertible note for a net carrying balance of $205,538 as of December 31, 2023.
 
Interest expense on this obligation for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was $27,616. As of December 31, 2023, accrued interest payable on this obligation was $27,616.
 
Convertible notes, at fair value
 
2023 Amendments to Convertible Note –
2017 [b], Convertible Note - 2018 [c], and Convertible Note – 2019 [d]
 
During October 2023, the Company and the noteholders
agreed to amend the convertible notes to extend the maturity date to November 1, 2026. At the time of the amendment,
the noteholders had
not converted any amount into shares of the Company. In addition, the conversion terms of the note were amended as follows:
 

● Optional Conversion Prior to Maturity – Prior to maturity, each noteholder may elect to convert
all or a portion of the note into a number of Company common
shares equal to (i) the outstanding amount of principal and interest, after
prior conversions and repayments, if any, under this Note, divided by (ii) the current fair
market value of the common shares, as determined
in good faith by the Company’s Board of Directors (“Voluntary Conversion Price”).
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● Mandatory Conversion - Upon the effective consummation of the pending merger with Inpixon, the
outstanding principal and interest of the note that have not been

converted will be converted into a number of shares equal to the outstanding
amount of principal and interest, after conversions and repayments, if any, divided by the
conversion price. For mandatory conversions
the conversion price is equal to (i) 2.5 multiplied by (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Inpixon common stock
for the five
trading days immediately preceding the consummation of the pending merger with Inpixon.
 

The Company accounted for the amendments to the
convertible notes as an extinguishment of debt and reissuance of the convertible notes in accordance with ASC 470-50,
Debt –
Modifications and Extinguishments, due to the addition of a substantive conversion feature. As the Company elected to account for
these convertible notes using the fair
value option, the Company measured the convertible notes at a fair value of $7,660,062, which resulted
in a loss on extinguishment of $6,634,898. As of the December 31,
2023 reporting date, the Company re-measured the convertible notes at
fair value resulting in an increase to the convertible notes of $9,143,801. The total derivative liability as
of December 31, 2023 was
$16,803,863 and is classified as Convertible notes at fair value within the accompanying balance sheets. If the notes are not converted,
the cash
settlement value of the convertible notes as of December 31, 2023 is $1,042,128, which includes principal and interest.
 
SBA Loan
 
On June 3, 2020, the Company entered into a promissory
note with the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA). The note has a principal amount of $65,000 and accrues
interest at a rate of 3.75%
per annum. Monthly interest only payments commenced on June 3, 2021. The note matures on June 3, 2050 and is collateralized by tangible
and
intangible personal assets of the Company. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, accrued interest payable on this obligation was $178
and $6,439, respectively.
 
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Equity
 
The Company has authorized 100,000,000 shares
of $0.001 par value common stock.
 
Issuances of Common Stock
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
issued and sold 179,200 shares of common stock to a non-executive officer and his family member at $1.25 per share
for gross proceeds
of $224,000.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company
issued and sold 28,700 shares of common stock to a family member of a non-executive officer at $1.75 per share for
gross proceeds of $50,225.
 
Stock Option Plan
 
During 2017, the Company adopted the 2017 Employee
and Consultant Stock Ownership Plan (“2017 Plan”), which was amended in 2021 to increase the maximum shares
eligible to be
granted under the Plan. The Company may issue awards up to a maximum of 30,000,000 common shares in the form of restricted stock units
and stock options to
employees, directors, and consultants.
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Under the 2017 Plan, stock options are generally
 granted with an exercise price equal to the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock, as determined by the
Company’s
Board of Directors on the date of grant. Options generally have contractual terms of ten years. Incentive stock options (ISO) may only
be granted to employees,
whereas all other stock awards may be granted to employees, directors, consultants and other key persons.
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 13,014,685
options outstanding comprised of (i) 8,214,685 fully vested options granted to employees, directors, consultants and
other key persons,
and (ii) 4,800,000 unvested options granted to employees that either vest over a 4-year period or vest based on achievement of performance
milestones as it
relates to stock options that were granted to members of the management team in March 2023, as discussed below.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
granted 3,050,000 stock options to members of its management team, which vest based on the achievement of certain
performance-based conditions
as outlined in the option award agreements. The Black-Scholes fair value and exercise price of the stock options granted to the management
team
was $1.05 and $1.67, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $960,750 of expense or 30% of the grant date fair
value of these management options as
30% of the total options granted were deemed probable of vesting as of that date.
 
The Company recognized
 $1,523,522 and $4,563,007 of stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included
 in
general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of operations. Unrecognized compensation expense as December 31,
2023 was $3,826,786, which will be
amortized to expense over the weighted average remaining term of approximately 1.25 years.
 
The Company made an accounting policy election
to account for stock option forfeitures of employee awards as they occur. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company recognized
 $14,469,884 in stock option forfeiture income relating to the departure of two executives, which was recorded in Other income (expense)
 in the
accompanying statements of operations.
 
See below for a summary of the stock options granted under the 2017
plan:
 

   
2017 
Plan    

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share  
Outstanding – January 1, 2022     20,815,405    $ 1.60 
Granted     4,190,500    $ 1.70 
Exercised     -    $ - 
Expired     -    $ - 
Forfeitures     (14,881,220)   $ (1.64)
Outstanding – December 31, 2022     10,124,685    $ 1.58 
Granted     3,050,000    $ 1.67 
Exercised     -    $ - 
Expired     -    $ - 
Forfeitures     (160,000)   $ (1.75)
Outstanding – December 31, 2023     13,014,685    $ 1.60 
               
Exercisable at December 31, 2022     6,694,685    $ 1.51 
               
Exercisable at December 31, 2023     8,214,685    $ 1.55 
 
The weighted average Black-Scholes fair value
 and exercise price of stock options issued during the year ended December 31, 2022 was $1.05 and $1.70 per share,
respectively.
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Warrants
 
The following table summarizes the status of the
Company’s common stock warrants as of December 31, 2023 and changes during the period then ended:
 

Common Stock Warrants  

Number of
Underlying

Shares    

Weighted 
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share  
Outstanding – January 1, 2022     1,607,563    $ 0.97 
Granted     6,522,585    $ 0.06 
Outstanding – December 31, 2022     8,130,148    $ 0.24 
Granted     1,159,633    $ 1.51 
Cancelled     (627,264)   $ 1.50 
Expired     (14,783)   $ (1.50)
Outstanding – December 31, 2023     8,647,734    $ 0.32 
 
On February 2, 2022, the Company executed a conditional
purchase order (“Aircraft Purchase Agreement”) with a regional airline customer to deliver 100 TriFan aircraft. In
conjunction
with this purchase order, the Company issued a warrant for the purchase of a total of 6,357,474 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $0.01. The warrant
vests as follows:
 

● One third (1/3rd) of the warrants vested on February 2, 2022
upon execution of the purchase order agreement;
 

● One third (1/3rd) of the warrants will vest: (i) in the event
that the Company is acquired by a special purpose acquisition corporation (SPAC) and the customer, in its
sole discretion, invests a
minimum of $10 million in any private investment in public entity (PIPE) consummated in connection with such SPAC transaction, or (ii)
upon the occurrence of any other Liquidation Event (as defined in the agreement) resulting in change control of the Company; and

 
● One third (1/3rd) of the warrants will vest upon acceptance
of delivery and final purchase by the customer of the first TriFan aircraft.

 
As of December 31, 2023, warrants to purchase
one-third or 2,119,137 shares were vested. The other two vesting milestones noted above have not yet been achieved. The
Company evaluated
 the warrants determining the warrants are equity classified. Using the Black-Scholes model, the Company determined the grant-date fair
 value of the
warrants was $11,067,091, which the vested portion of $3,652,140 has been recorded as general and administrative expense
and additional paid-in-capital for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
 
Effective as of March 11, 2024, we entered into
an amendment (the “Warrant Amendment”) with the same regional airline customer. The Warrant Amendment modifies the
vesting
criteria with respect to the shares of common stock underlying the warrant. As amended by the Warrant Amendment, (i) one-third of the
shares represented by the
warrant vested upon the execution and delivery of the conditional aircraft purchase contract, dated February
 2, 2022, by and between the Company and regional airline
customer, relating to the purchase of 100 TriFan 600 aircraft, (ii) one-sixth
of the shares vested on March 12, 2024, (iii) one-sixth of unvested shares lapsed on March 12, 2024,
and (iv) one-third of the shares
will vest upon the acceptance of delivery and final purchase of the first TriFan 600 aircraft by the regional airline customer pursuant
 to the
Aircraft Purchase Agreement. The Warrant Amendment requires the parties to agree on an initial strategic public and industry announcement
within 90 days of March 11, 2024
or such other time as the parties may mutually agree. On March 12, 2024 and per a warrant exercise letter
agreement, a total of 3,178,737 vested warrant shares were net
exercised at a reduced exercise price of $0.001 into 3,171,615 common shares
of the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time.
 
On October 21, 2022 and in conjunction with the
Convertible Note 2022[i] (Note 5), the Company issued 150,000 warrants with an exercise price of $1.92. The warrants are
exercisable upon
 the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years. Using the Black-Scholes model, the Company determined the net grant-date fair
 value of the
warrants was $152,415, which has been recorded as a debt discount and additional paid-in-capital.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company
issued a service provider warrants for 15,111 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share.
 
On January 30, 2023 and in conjunction with the
Convertible Note 2023[j] (Note 5), the Company issued 39,063 warrants with an exercise price of $1.92. The warrants are
exercisable upon
 the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years. Using the Black-Scholes model, the Company determined the net grant-date fair
 value of the
warrants was $39,258, which has been recorded as a debt discount and additional paid-in-capital.
 
On May 9, 2023, the Company issued warrants to
a non-executive officer and his family member to purchase 90,000 shares of common stock at a $1.50 exercise price with a
maturity date
of May 9, 2028. The warrants may be exercised at the option of the holders anytime from the issuance date through the maturity date. The
Company evaluated the
warrants determining the warrants are equity classified. Using the Black-Scholes model, the Company determined the
grant-date fair value of the warrants was $97,542, which
was recorded in general and administrative expenses and additional paid-in-capital
during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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On May 9, 2023 and in conjunction with the Convertible
Note 2017 [h] (Note 5), the Company cancelled 627,264 warrants previously issued with an exercise price of $1.50
and issued 993,459
new warrants with an exercise price of $1.50. The warrants are exercisable upon the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years.
Using the Black-
Scholes model, the Company determined the grant-date fair value of the warrants was $1,076,711, which has been recorded
as a debt discount and additional paid-in-capital.
 
On June 30, 2023, the Company issued a service
provider warrants for 7,493 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share.
 
On July 19, 2023, the Company issued warrants
to a non-executive officer to purchase 22,000 shares of common stock at a $1.50 exercise price with a maturity date of July 19,
2028.
The warrants may be exercised at the option of the holders anytime from the issuance date through the maturity date. The Company evaluated
the warrants determining
the warrants are equity classified. Using the Black-Scholes model, the Company determined the grant-date fair
value of the warrants was $23,844, which was recorded in
general and administrative expenses and additional paid-in-capital during the
year ended December 31, 2023.
 
On December 31, 2023, the Company issued a service
provider warrants for 7,618 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share.
 
Warrants granted during the year ended December
31, 2023 and during the year ended December, 31, 2022 were valued using the following Black-Scholes pricing model
inputs:
 
    2023   2022
Risk Free Interest Rate   3.51% - 4.13%   1.60% - 4.16%
Expected Dividend Yield   0.00%   0.00%
Expected Volatility   74.10%   74.00% - 74.10%
Expected Life (years)   5.0   5.0
Fair Value per Warrant   $1.01 - $1.08   $1.02 - $1.74
 
Note 7 - Related Party Transactions
 
See Note 5 for disclosure of related party promissory
notes and convertible notes.
 
The Company’s founder and majority stockholder,
David Brody, provides legal and strategic consulting services for the Company. During the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, the
Company paid Mr. Brody compensation of $60,000 and $100,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company
owed Mr. Brody
accrued compensation of $320,000 and $260,000, respectively, which is included in Related Party Payables within the accompanying
balance sheets. Pursuant to an amendment
to the consulting agreement, these accrued amounts were waived by Mr. Brody and the consulting
agreement terminated in connection with the closing of the merger in 2024.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
 the Company paid its CFO consultant, Scott Pomeroy, who is also a board member and stock options holder,
compensation of $152,250 and
$63,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company owed Mr. Pomeroy accrued compensation of $99,750
and
$46,125, respectively, which is included in Related Party Payables within the accompanying balance sheets.
 
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the Company paid its Chief Operating Advisor (COA) consultant, Charlie Johnson, who is also a board member and
stockholder, compensation
of $60,000 and $30,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company owed Mr. Johnson accrued compensation
of
$120,000 and $60,000, respectively, which is included in Related Party Payables within the accompanying balance sheets. Pursuant to
 an amendment to the consulting
agreement in 2024, the Company paid $60,000 to Mr. Johnson in March 2024 and the remaining accrued compensation
balance of $60,000 was waived.
 
Note 8 – Fair Value Measurements
 
The Company’s estimates of fair value for financial assets
and financial liabilities are based on the framework established in ASC 820. The framework is based on the inputs
used in valuation
and gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when
available. The disclosure of
fair value estimates in the ASC 820 hierarchy is based on whether the significant inputs into the
valuation are observable. In determining the level of the hierarchy in which the
estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is
 given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s
significant market assumptions. We classified our financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the following
valuation hierarchy.
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The Company’s assets measured at fair value
consisted of the following at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 
 
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
As of December 31, 2023:                    
Liabilities:                    

Warrant liability     -      -      497,653      497,653 
Convertible notes, at fair value                   16,803,863      16,803,863 
Loan conversion derivative liability     -      -      333,150      333,150 

      -      -    $ 17,634,666    $ 17,634,666 

As of December 31, 2022:                            
Liabilities:                            

JV obligation     -      -    $ 5,386,751    $ 5,386,751 
Warrant liability     -      -      333,344      333,344 
Loan conversion derivative liability     -      -      150,000      150,000 

      -      -    $ 5,870,095    $ 5,870,095 

 
There were no financial assets and liabilities
measured on a non-recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022.
 
The warrants were valued at the time of grant
using the Black-Scholes model. Key assumptions include a 5-year term, volatility between 74.00% and 74.10%, and no expected
dividends.
The JV obligation, warrant liability, convertible notes and loan conversion derivatives in the table above were valued at the Company’s
estimated share price based
on an independent valuation as of the date of remeasurement, which was $1.67 as December 31, 2022 and $2.33
as of December 31, 2023.
 
The initial measurement of the convertible notes, at fair value was
determined based on (i) the number of XTI common shares that would be delivered to the note holder upon
note conversion, multiplied by
(ii) the XTI share price as of the initial measurement date of $1.67 which was based on an independent valuation. The remeasurement of
the
convertible notes, at fair value as of the December 31, 2023 reporting date was based on the updated number of XTI common shares to
be delivered upon note conversion and
the current XTI share price which increased to $2.33 based on an updated independent valuation.
The updated valuation utilized a market approach to value the Company
through an analysis of comparable public companies. Key assumptions
used in the valuation include discount of lack of marketability of 11%, selected discount rate of 60% for
“start-up” stage
as the Company is several years away from generating revenue, and volatility of 106%.
 
Below is a reconciliation of the JV obligation for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value:
 
JV obligation   Level 3  
Balance – January 1, 2022   $ 5,717,252 
Change in fair value of JV obligation     (330,501)
Balance – December 31, 2022     5,386,751 
Change in fair value of JV obligation     196,055 
Reclassification of JV obligation to equity     (5,582,806)
Balance – December 31, 2023   $ - 
 
Below is a reconciliation of the Warrant liability for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value:
 
Warrant liability   Level 3  
Balance – January 1, 2022   $ 345,292 
Change in fair value of warrant liability     (11,948)
Balance – December 31, 2022     333,344 
Change in fair value of warrant liability     164,309 
Balance – December 31, 2023   $ 497,653 
 
Below is a reconciliation of the Convertible notes, at fair value for
the year ended December 31, 2023 for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair
value:
 
Convertible notes, at fair value   Level 3  
Balance – December 31, 2022   $ - 
Initial measurement of debt1     7,660,062 
Change in fair value of convertible notes1     9,143,801 
Balance – December 31, 2023   $ 16,803,863 
 
1 Refer to Note 5 – “Convertible notes, at fair value
- 2023 Amendments to Convertible Note – 2017 [b], Convertible Note - 2018 [c], and Convertible Note – 2019 [d]”
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Below is a reconciliation of the Loan conversion derivatives for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine
fair value:
 
Loan conversion derivative liability   Level 3  
Balance – January 1, 2022   $ - 
Initial measurement of derivative1     150,000 
Change in fair value of loan conversion derivative liability     - 
Balance – December 31, 2022     150,000 
Initial measurement of derivative2     75,000 
Change in fair value of loan conversion derivative liability     108,150 
Balance – December 31, 2023   $ 333,150 
 
1 Refer to Note 5 – “Convertible Note – 2022
[i]”
2 Refer to Note 5 – “Convertible Note – 2023
[j]”
 
Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies
 
Contingencies
 
The Company is subject to claims and assessments
from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Accruals for litigation and contingencies are reflected in the financial
statements
based on management’s assessment, including the advice of legal counsel, of the expected outcome of litigation or other dispute
resolution proceedings and/or the
expected resolution of contingencies. Liabilities for estimated losses are accrued if the potential
losses from any claims or legal proceedings are considered probable and the
amounts can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment
is required in both the determination of probability of loss and the determination as to whether the amount can be
reasonably estimated.
Accruals are based only on information available at the time of the assessment due to the uncertain nature of such matters. As additional
 information
becomes available, management reassesses potential liabilities related to pending claims and litigation and may revise its
previous estimates, which could materially affect the
Company’s results of operations in a given period. As of December 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022, the Company was not involved in any material legal proceedings, except
as discussed below.
 
On December 6, 2023, Xeriant, Inc. (“Xeriant”)
filed a complaint against XTI, along with two unnamed companies and five unnamed persons, in the United States District
Court for the
Southern District of New York. The complaint, as amended in January and February 2024, alleges that XTI, through multiple breaches and
fraudulent actions, has
caused substantial harm to Xeriant and has prevented it from obtaining compensation owed to it under various agreements
entered into between Xeriant and XTI, including but
not limited to a joint venture agreement, a cross-patent license agreement, an operating
agreement, and a letter agreement. In particular, Xeriant contends that XTI gained
substantial advantages from the intellectual property,
expertise, and capital deployed by Xeriant in the design and development of XTI’s TriFan 600 aircraft yet has excluded
Xeriant from
the transaction involving the TriFan 600 technology in our merger with Inpixon, which has resulted in a breach of the Letter Agreement,
in addition to the other
aforementioned agreements. Xeriant, in the second amended complaint, asserts the following causes of action:
 (1) breach of contract; (2) intentional fraud; (3) fraudulent
concealment; (4) quantum meruit; (5) unjust enrichment; (6) unfair competition/deceptive
business practices; and (7) misappropriation of confidential information, and seeks
damages in excess of $500 million, injunctive relief
enjoining us from engaging in any further misconduct, the imposition of a royalty obligation, and such other relief as
deemed appropriate
by the court. On March 13, 2024, XTI moved for partial dismissal of the complaint, Counts 2 through 7 in particular. XTI argued that Counts
2 through 7
are (1) impermissible attempts to repackage claims arising from contractual dispute as quasi-contractual or tort claims; and
(2) expressly refuted by the clear and unequivocal
terms of the aforementioned agreements. The case is in its early stages, no discovery
with respect to the Company has occurred, and we are unable to estimate the likelihood or
magnitude of a potential adverse judgment. The
Court has neither scheduled XTI’s motion for hearing nor otherwise ruled upon it. XTI nevertheless denies the allegations of
wrongdoing
contained in the complaint and is vigorously defending against the lawsuit.
 
Scott Pomeroy Consulting Agreement
 
Mr. Pomeroy entered into a consulting agreement
dated July 1, 2022, as amended effective January 1, 2023, that provided for his engagement as XTI’s Chief Financial Officer.
The
agreement provided that Mr. Pomeroy receive a monthly compensation of $17,500. Pursuant to the consulting agreement and in connection
with the closing of the XTI
Merger in March 2024, Mr. Pomeroy received 4,000,000 shares of Legacy XTI common stock. Effective upon closing
time of the XTI Merger, Mr. Pomeroy was appointed as
XTI Aerospace’s Chief Executive Officer. It is anticipated that XTI Aerospace
and Mr. Pomeroy will enter into an employment agreement on terms to be approved by the XTI
Aerospace Board but which are expected to provide
for an annual base salary of approximately $400,000 and a cash bonus target in an amount of up to 150% of base salary
upon the satisfaction
of certain performance criteria and milestones which shall be determined and approved by XTI Aerospace’s Compensation Committee.
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Note 10 – Income Taxes
 
The Company uses the liability method of accounting
for income taxes as set forth in ASC 740, Income Taxes.  Under the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based
on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in
effect during the years in which the basis
differences reverse.  A valuation allowance is recorded when it is unlikely that
the deferred tax assets will be realized.
 
There are no significant matters determined to
be unrecognized tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, in accordance with ASC 740 “Income Taxes”, which
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements and have been recorded on the Company’s
 financial statements for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company does not anticipate a material change to unrecognized
tax benefits in the next twelve months.
  
The income tax provision from operations was $0 for the tax years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
 
A reconciliation between the expected federal income tax rate and
the actual tax rate is as follows:
 
    December 31,  
    2023     2022  
Federal income taxes at 21% and 21%   $ (5,263,915)   $ (99,314)
               
Increase in income taxes resulting from:              

State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit     (1,102,916)     (17,309)
Change in valuation allowance     1,754,923      (822,216)
Incentive stock options     54,176      (342,025)
Liability adjustments to fair value     4,126,793      (81,502)
Warrant expense     30,832      909,715 
Other permanent items     162,911      130,241 
Deferred only adjustment     237,196      322,410 

Provision for income taxes   $ -    $ - 
 
A summary of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
 
    December 31,  
    2023     2022  
Deferred tax assets          

Accruals and reserves   $ 1,347,934    $ 727,106 
Capitalized R&D     866,425      657,802 
Stock based compensation     2,443,347      2,391,085 
Net operating loss carryforwards     3,866,739      2,993,529 
Total deferred tax assets     8,524,445      6,769,522 

Valuation allowance     (8,524,445)      (6,769,522)  
Net deferred tax assets     $              -      $                - 

 
The Company uses the liability method of accounting
for income taxes as set forth in ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based
on the temporary
differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the
years in which the basis
differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is unlikely that the deferred tax assets will
be realized.
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In assessing the realizability of deferred income
tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in
which those temporary
differences become deductible. Due to the uncertainty of the business in which the Company operates, projections
of future profitability are difficult and past operating results
are not necessarily indicative of future profitability. Management does
not believe it is more likely than not that the deferred income tax assets will be realized; accordingly, a
full valuation allowance has
been established on net deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and as of December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the
change in valuation allowance was $1,754,923 and ($822,216), respectively.
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had net
operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $15.3 million comprising of $3.5 million of state and approximately
$11.7 million of federal, of which approximately
$1.4 million will begin to expire in 2036 and the remainder do not expire.
 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company had NOLs of approximately $11.8 million comprising of approximately $2.6 million of state and approximately
 $9.2 million of
federal.
 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company had a federal
R&D tax credit receivable for qualified development expenses of $126,949. The Company was eligible under IRS
guidelines to apply the
credit against federal payroll taxes starting with the first quarter of 2022. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s R&D tax
credit receivable balance
was $95,270. These federal R&D tax credit receivables are classified as Other Current Receivable on the
accompanying balance sheets.
 
The Company files U.S. federal and state income
tax returns. All previous tax returns have been filed. All tax periods since inception remain open to examination by the taxing
jurisdictions
to which the Company is subject.
 
Note 11 – Subsequent Events
 
The Merger
 
On July 24, 2023, we entered into an Agreement
and Plan of Merger (amended on December 30, 2023 and March 12, 2024), the “Merger Agreement”, by and among us,
Inpixon, Inc.
(“Inpixon’), a Nasdaq listed corporation registered in Nevada, and Superfly Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and Inpixon’s
then wholly owned subsidiary
(“Merger Sub). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on March 12, 2024 (the “Closing Date”),
Merger Sub merged with and into XTI (the “XTI Merger”), with XTI surviving the
XTI Merger as Inpixon’s wholly owned
subsidiary. Following the effective time of the XTI Merger on the Closing Date, Inpixon’s articles of incorporation were amended
to
change its name from “Inpixon” to “XTI Aerospace, Inc.” and the combined company opened for trading on the
Nasdaq Capital Market on March 13, 2024 under the new
ticker symbol “XTIA.” Although Inpixon was the legal acquirer of the
merger transaction, it was determined, based the guidance of ASC 805 – Business Combinations, that the
transaction was a
reverse acquisition with XTI being considered the accounting acquirer for financial reporting purposes.
 
Convertible Notes, Options and Warrant Inducements
 
To induce convertible note holders to convert
outstanding note balances and related options and warrants into XTI common shares ahead of the XTI Merger so to assist the
company in
qualifying for a Nasdaq Capital Markets listing, we entered into either a loan amendment or a voluntary note conversion and exercise letter
agreement with certain
convertible note holders in February 2024, as follows:
 
  ● Convertible Note – 2021[a] - per an amendment to the convertible note agreement with Mr. Brody, $922,957 of the outstanding note balance was converted at a

reduced conversion price of $0.309 into 2,983,115 common shares of the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time. As a result of the note
conversion, $175,000 of the note balance remained outstanding post-merger and was assumed by the combined company (XTI Aerospace) and was subsequently
repaid in full on April 1, 2024.

 
  ● Convertible Note – 2021[g] - per the letter agreements with certain syndicate convertible note holders, an aggregate principal and accrued interest balance of

$2,503,776 was converted at a reduced conversion price of $0.265 into 9,450,209 common shares of XTI immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time. As a
result of the voluntary note conversions, approximately $273,000 of the syndicate note balance remained outstanding post-merger and was assumed by XTI
Aerospace. On May 22, 2024, the Company repaid $46,500 plus accrued interest to one of the syndicate note holders which satisfied the debt obligation to that note
holder in full. In addition, an aggregate total of 518,025 stock options held by the note holders were net exercised at a reduced exercise price of $0.001 into 516,803
common shares of the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time.

 
● Convertible Note – 2017[h] - per the letter agreement, the
 total outstanding principal and accrued interest balance of $2,147,687 was converted at a reduced

conversion price of $0.265 into 8,106,195
common shares of XTI immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time. As a result of the conversion, the note was
satisfied in full and
therefore relieved the Company of all obligations. In addition, all 993,459 related warrant shares held by the note holder were net exercised
at a
reduced exercise price of $0.001into 991,115 common shares of the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time.
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  ● Convertible Note – 2022 [i] - per the letter agreement, $600,000 of the outstanding note balance was converted at a reduced conversion price of $0.265 into 2,264,630

common shares of XTI immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time. As a result of the voluntary note conversions, approximately $82,000 of the note balance
remained outstanding post-merger and was assumed by XTI Aerospace. In addition, all 150,000 related warrant shares held by the note holder were net exercised at a
reduced exercise price of $0.001 into 149,644 common shares of the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time.

 
  ● Convertible Note – 2023 [j] - per the letter agreement, $300,000 of the outstanding note balance was converted at a reduced conversion price of $0.265 into 1,132,315

common shares of XTI immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time. As a result of the voluntary note conversion, approximately $33,000 of the note balance
remained outstanding post-merger and was assumed by XTI Aerospace. In addition, all 39,063 warrant shares held by the note holder were net exercised at a reduced
exercise price of $0.001 into 38,973 common shares of the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time.

 
To induce a certain stock option holder to exercise
his stock options ahead of the XTI Merger, we entered into an option exercise letter agreement with the option holder in
February 2024.
Per the letter agreement, all of the holder’s 520,846 outstanding options were net exercised at a reduced exercise price of $0.001
into 519,617 common shares of
the Company immediately prior to the XTI Merger closing time.
 
2024 Conversions of Convertible Note – 2017 [b], Convertible
Note - 2018 [c], and Convertible Note – 2019 [d]
 
Immediately prior to the effective time of the
 XTI Merger, the three convertible notes were automatically converted into an aggregate 8,416,201 common shares of the
Company. As a result
of the conversions, the notes were satisfied in full and therefore relieved the Company of all obligations.
 
Merger Transaction Bonus
 
During 2024, the Company issued 518,317 shares
as bonus compensation relating to the merger transaction to a non-executive officer.
 
Financial Advisory Agreements
 
Pursuant to a financial advisory engagement letter
 between the Company and Chardan Capital Markets (“Chardan”), dated as of June 7, 2022, as amended (the “Chardan
Engagement
Letter’) and in connection with the XTI Merger closing, Chardan received advisory compensation of 2,117,817 shares of the Company’s
common stock and will
receive a cash payment of $200,000.
 
Pursuant to the terms of an amended advisory fees agreement among the
Company, Inpixon and Maxim Group and in accordance with the Merger Agreement, the Company
issued 4,317,279 shares of the Company’s
common stock to Maxim Group on March 12, 2024.
 
New Corporate Headquarters
 
Effective January 1, 2024, the Company moved into
 a new corporate office location at Centennial Airport in Englewood, Colorado. In conjunction with this move, the
Company entered into
a four-year sublease arrangement with an initial base rent of $8,966 per month. The rent under the sublease arrangement is subject to
annual escalations.
The Company will make a total of approximately $108,000 in lease payments during 2024 relating to this new office
sublease.
 
There were no subsequent events requiring disclosure in addition to
what has already been disclosed in this section and other note sections to the financial statements.
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Exhibit 99.2
 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED
COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

The following unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information gives effect to the 1-100 Inpixon Reverse Stock Split that was effective immediately
before the close of
the transaction.
 

The following unaudited pro
 forma condensed combined financial information presents the combination of the financial information of XTI (the “Company”
 or
“XTI”) and Inpixon and Subsidiaries (“Inpixon”) adjusted to give effect to the reverse Merger and related transactions.
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation
S-X. Defined terms included below have the same meaning as terms defined and included
elsewhere in this Amended Form 8-K.
 

The historical financial
information of XTI Aircraft Company (“Legacy XTI”) was derived from the audited financial statements of Legacy XTI as of
and for the year
ended December 31, 2023, included elsewhere in the Amended Form 8-K. The historical financial information of Inpixon
was derived from the audited consolidated financial
statements of XTI Aerospace, Inc. and subsidiaries (formerly known as Inpixon and
 subsidiaries) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed in the XTI
Aerospace, Inc. Form 10-K filed on April 16, 2024 after
the closing of the Merger. All financial information included in the XTI Aerospace, Inc. Form 10-K filing represents
historical Inpixon.
Such unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared on a basis consistent with the financial statements of Legacy XTI and
Inpixon and its
subsidiaries, respectively. This information should be read together with the financial statements of Legacy XTI and
 related notes, the section titled “XTI Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and other information included in this Amended Form 8-K, as applicable.
 

The Merger is accounted for
using the acquisition method (as a reverse acquisition), with goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets recorded in accordance
with
GAAP, as applicable. Under this method of accounting, Inpixon is treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting
purposes. Legacy XTI has been determined to be
the accounting acquirer because Legacy XTI maintains control of the Board of Directors
 and management of the combined company, and the preexisting shareholders of
Legacy XTI will have majority voting rights of the combined
company. For accounting purposes, the acquirer is the entity that has obtained control of another entity and, thus,
consummated a business
combination. Under the acquisition method of accounting (as a reverse acquisition), Legacy XTI’s assets and liabilities are recorded
at carrying value
and the assets and liabilities associated with Inpixon are recorded at estimated fair value as of the acquisition date.
The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value
of the net assets acquired, if applicable, is recognized as goodwill. Significant
estimates and assumptions were used in determining the preliminary purchase price allocation
reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial statements. The purchase price allocation is preliminary and is subject to measurement period adjustments in
accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 combines the historical balance sheets of Legacy XTI and Inpixon on a pro
forma basis as
if the Merger and related transactions had been consummated on December 31, 2023. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement
of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2023 gives pro forma effect to the Merger and related transactions as if they had occurred
on January 1, 2023, the beginning of the earliest period
presented. Inpixon and Legacy XTI had entered into a promissory note agreement
prior to the Merger. Therefore, Inpixon’s note receivable and Legacy XTI’s note payable
were eliminated by transaction accounting
adjustment B.
 

These unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements are for informational purposes only. They do not purport to indicate the results that would have
been obtained had the Merger and related transactions actually been completed on the assumed date or for the periods presented, or which
may be realized in the future. The pro
forma adjustments are based on the information currently available and the assumptions and estimates
underlying the pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying
notes. Actual results may differ materially from the assumptions
within the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
 

 



 

 
Description of the Merger Agreement

 
On July
24, 2023, XTI entered into the Merger Agreement, by and among XTI, Inpixon, and Superfly Merger Sub, Inc., pursuant to which XTI
combined and merged

with Merger Sub, whereupon the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub ceased, and XTI became the “combined
company”. The merger closed on March 12, 2024 (the
“Closing Date”).

 
Prior to the Closing Date,
Inpixon effectuated a transaction for the divestiture of its Shoom, SAVES, and Game Your Game (“GYG”) lines of business and
investment

securities (the “Solutions Divestiture”), outlined in the Description of the Solutions Divestiture section
 below. The Inpixon portion of the combined company became the
Industrial Internet of Things (“IIoT”) business line.

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement,
each share of XTI common stock was converted into a number of shares of Inpixon common stock determined by multiplying such

share by the
 Exchange Ratio determined pursuant to the Exchange Ratio Formula as described in more detail in the section titled “The Merger Agreement
 - Merger
Consideration and Exchange Ratio” included in the registration statement filed on November 7, 2023. Additionally, at the
Effective Time, each outstanding option and warrant
to purchase shares of XTI common stock was assumed by the combined company and was
converted into an option or warrant, as applicable, to purchase shares of Inpixon
common stock, with necessary adjustments to reflect
the Exchange Ratio (collectively, the “Assumed Options and Warrants”). Prior to the Effective Time, all outstanding XTI
convertible
notes were converted into XTI common stock and participated in the merger on the same basis as the other shares of XTI common stock, except
for portions of
promissory notes in the principal amount of $346,500.
 

Each share of Inpixon capital
 stock, option and warrant to purchase Inpixon common stock that is outstanding at the Effective Time remained outstanding in
accordance
with its terms, and such shares of capital stock, options, and warrants was unaffected by the Merger.

 
Following
the consummation of the Merger, the holders of the outstanding XTI common stock immediately prior to the closing of the Merger
own approximately 79%

of the outstanding capital stock of the combined company and the holders of the outstanding capital stock of Inpixon
 immediately prior to the closing of the Merger own
approximately 21% of the outstanding capital stock of the combined company.

 
Prior
to the consummation of the Merger, Inpixon issued 9,802 shares of Series 9 preferred stock at a stated par value of $1,000, in connection
with a holder of the

Company’s debt converting $9,801,521 of debt and accrued and unpaid interest into shares of preferred stock.
See Note D for more details.
 
Concurrent
 with the consummation of the Merger, Inpixon issued 1,500 shares of Series 9 preferred stock at a stated par value of $1,000, for net
 proceeds of

1,500,000. See Note D for more details.
 

Description of the Solutions Divestiture
 

On October 23,
2023, a Business Combination Agreement (the “Damon Business Combination Agreement”) was entered into by and among Inpixon,
Grafiti Holding,
Inc., 1444842 B.C. LTD (“Amalco Sub”), and Damon Motors, Inc.
 (“Damon”), pursuant to which Damon will combine and merge with Amalco Sub, a British Columbia
corporation and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Grafiti Holding, Inc., with Damon continuing as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Grafiti Holding, Inc.
(the
“Grafiti Holding Transaction”).
 

Pursuant to the Damon Business
 Combination Agreement, Inpixon formed a newly wholly owned subsidiary, Grafiti Holding, Inc for the sole purpose of
consummation of the
Grafiti Holding Transaction. Inpixon contributed the assets and liabilities of Inpixon UK, a wholly owned subsidiary of Inpixon, to the
 then Inpixon
wholly owned subsidiary Grafiti Holding, Inc. in accordance with the separation and distribution agreement. As the Registration
 Statement for the Damon Business
Combination Agreement is not expected to become effective until the first half of 2024, on December 27,
2023 Inpixon transferred the Grafiti common shares to a newly-
created liquidating trust, titled the Grafiti Holding Inc. Liquidating Trust
(the “Trust”), which holds the Grafiti Holding, Inc. common shares for the benefit of the participating
Inpixon securityholders.
The Grafiti Holding, Inc. common shares will be held by the Trust until the Registration Statement has been declared effective by the
Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Promptly following the effective time of the Registration Statement, the Trust
will deliver the Grafiti Holding, Inc. common shares to the
participating Inpixon securityholders, as beneficiaries of the Trust, pro
rata in accordance with their ownership of shares or underlying shares of Inpixon common stock as of
the record date. Amalco Sub,a wholly-owned,
 direct subsidiary of Grafiti Holding, Inc., will merge with Damon resulting in Damon as the surviving entity post-merger
(“Damon
Surviving Corporation”). Upon the consummation of the Merger, both Inpixon UK and Damon will be wholly-owned subsidiaries of Grafiti
Holding, Inc.. Following
the Merger, Grafiti Holding, Inc. shall be known as the “Grafiti Combined Company.” The combined
company will be renamed Damon Motors, Inc., and the ticker symbol will
be changed to a symbol to be determined concurrent with the closing.

 
On February 16, 2024, Inpixon
entered into an Equity Purchase Agreement to divest the remaining portion of Shoom, SAVES, and GYG that is excluded from the

Grafiti Holding
Transaction. The Equity Purchase Agreement, by and among Inpixon (“Seller”), Grafiti LLC, and Nadir Ali (“Buyer”),
is structured so that Buyer will purchase
from Seller 100% of the equity interest in Grafiti LLC for a minimum purchase price of $1,000,000
paid in two annual cash installments of $500,000 due within 60 days after
December 31, 2024 and 2025. The purchase price and annual cash
installment payments will be (i) increased for 50% of net income after taxes, if any, from the operations of
Grafiti LLC for the years
 ended December 31, 2024 and 2025; (ii) decreased for the amount of transaction expenses assumed; (iii) increased or decreased by the amount
working capital of Grafiti LLC on the closing balance sheet is greater or less than $1,000,000. The Company notes that the estimated purchase
price as of the date of this filing
was approximately $1,000,000.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE
SHEET

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

   
XTI

(Historical)    
INPX

(Historical)    

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for Sale of
Grafiti, LLC   

INPX Pro
Forma As
Adjusted    

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments      

Other
Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments  
Autonomous
Adjustments  

Pro Forma
Combined  

               Note 1                            
ASSETS                                         

Current assets:                                         
Cash and cash equivalents  $         5   $ 6,254   $ —   $ 6,254   $ 1,500   D $ —  $ —  $ 7,477 
                             (282) C               
Accounts receivable, net of allowances    101     568     —     568     —        —    —    669 
Notes and other receivables    —     6,206     1,000     7,206     (3,108) B    —    —    4,098 
Warrant asset    —     1,858     —     1,858     —        —    —    1,858 
Inventory    —     2,415     —     2,415     —        —    —    2,415 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    125     430     —     430     —        —    —    555 
Current assets of discontinued operations    —     2,768     (2,768)   —     —        —    —    — 

Total current assets    231     20,499     (1,768)   18,731     (1,890)      —    —    17,072 
                                                  
Property and equipment, net    12     277     —     277     —        —    —    289 
Operating lease right-of-use asset, net    —     335     —     335     —        —    —    335 
Software development costs, net    —     305     —     305     (305) D   —    —    — 
Intangible assets, net    266     2,208     —     2,208     2,585   D   —    —    5,059 
Goodwill    —     —     —     —     7,990   D   —    —    7,990 
Other assets    —     145     —     145     —        —    —    145 

Total Assets  $ 509   $ 23,769   $ (1,768)   22,001   $ 8,380      $ —  $ —  $ 30,890 

                                                  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT)                                                 
Current liabilities:                                                 

Accounts payable  $ 2,496   $ 2,449   $ —     2,449   $ (282) C $ —  $ —  $ 4,663 
Accrued liabilities    1,127     2,007     —     2,007     (38) B    —    —    5,062 
                             8,912   C               
                             (2,125) C               
                             (1,146) D               
                             (3,675) C               
                                                  
Related party payables    540           —     —     (335) F    —    —    205 
Accrued interest    560           —     —     (229) E    —    —    331 
                                                  
Customer deposits    1,350           —     —     —        —    —    1,350 
Convertible and promissory notes - related

party, net of unamortized discounts of
$84,453 and $40,938 as of December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively    6,690           —     —     (904) A   —    —    347 

                             (2,369) E                
                             (3,070) B                
                             —                    
Warrant liability    497     919     —     919     —        —    —    1,416 
Operating lease obligation, current    —     201     —     201     —        —    —    201 
Deferred revenue    —     625     —     625     —        —    —    625 
Short-term debt    —     8,738     —     8,738     (8,624) D   —    —    114 

Current liabilities of discontinued operations    —     1,960     (1,960)   —     —        —    —    — 
Total current liabilities    13,260     16,899     (1,960)   14,939     (13,885)      —    —    14,314 

Operating lease obligation, noncurrent    —     141     —     141     —        —    —    141 
Loan conversion derivative liability    333     —     —     —     (333) E    —    —    — 
Convertible and promissory notes - related

party, net of unamortized discounts and loan
costs of $1,209,860 and $823,929 as of
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively    18,546     —     —     —     (18,481) E    —    —    65 
Total Liabilities    32,139     17,040     (1,960)   15,080     (32,699)      —    —    14,520 

                                                  
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)                                                 

Series 4 Convertible Preferred Stock    —     —     —     —     —        —    —    — 
Series 5 Convertible Preferred Stock    —     —     —     —     —        —    —    — 
Preferred Stock    —     —     —     —     11,302   E    —    —    11,302 
                                                  
Common Stock    36     3     —     3                   —    998 
                             916   D               
                             12   E                
                             3   E                



                             1   A               
                             21   E                
                             6   C               
Additional paid-in capital    26,294     366,099     —     366,099     903   A   —    —    68,094 
                                                  
                             (352,714) D               
                             21,059   E                
                             (3) E                
                             —                    
                             2,123   C               
                             3,672   C               
                                                  
                             335   F                
                             321   E                
Treasury stock    —     (695)   —     (695)   695   D   —    —    — 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)

income    —     630     521     1,151     (1,151) D   —    —    — 
Accumulated deficit    (57,959)   (359,698)   61     (359,637)   (8,912) C   —    —    (64,018)
                                                  
                             362,490   D               
Stockholders’ Equity    (31,629)   6,339     582     6,921     41,078        —    —    16,370 
                                                  
Non-controlling Interest    —     390     (390)   —     —        —    —    — 
                                                  

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)    (31,629)   6,729     192     6,921     41,078        —    —    16,370 
Total Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity  $ 509   $ 23,769   $ (1,768) $ 22,001   $ 8,379      $ —  $ —  $ 30,890 
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT
OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

   
XTI

(Historical)    
INPX

(Historical)    

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for
Discontinued

Ops   

INPX Pro
Forma As
Adjusted    

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments       

Other
Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments       

Autonomous
Entity

Adjustments       
Pro Forma
Combined  

               Note 1                                       
Revenues  $ —   $ 4,562   $ —  $ 4,562   $ —       $ —       $ —       $ 4,562 
Cost of revenues    —     1,458     —    1,458     —         —         —         1,458 
Gross profit    —     3,104     —    3,104     —         —         —         3,104 

                                                            
Operating expenses:                                                           

Research and development    1,381     4,355     —    4,355     —         —         —         5,736 
Sales and marketing    721     2,636     —    2,636     —         —         —         3,357 
General and administrative    3,615     14,970     —    14,970     —         (840) DD   (1,740) AA   16,005 
Acquisition-related costs    1,845     4,170     —    4,170     8,911  DD   840   DD   (4,170)  BB    11,596 
Transaction costs    —     3,059     —    3,059     —         —         (889)  BB    2,170 
Amortization of intangibles    28     843     —    843     (101) CC   —         —         770 

Total operating expenses    7,590     30,033     —    30,033     8,810         —         (6,799)       39,634 
                                                            
Loss from operations    (7,590)   (26,929)   —    (26,929)   (8,810)       —         6,799         (36,530)
                                                            

Other income (expense):                                                           
Interest income (expense), net    (1,142)   (4,730)   —    (4,730)   491    FF    —         —         237 
                            1,463   GG                         
                            2,627    FF                          
                            1,003    FF                          
           —     —    —     525    FF    —         —         — 
Amortization of deferred loan costs    (88)   —     —    —     88    FF    —         —         — 
Change in value of JV obligation    (196)   —     —    —     196    EE    —         —         — 
Change in value of warrant liability    (164)   —     —    —     —         —         —         (164)
Change in fair value of loan

conversion derivatives    (108)   —     —    —     108    FF    —         —         — 
Loss on extinguishment of

convertible notes    (6,635)   —     —    —     6,635    FF    —         —         — 
Change in fair value of convertible

notes    (9,144)   —     —    —     9,144    FF    —         —         — 
Warrant inducement expense    —     (3,361)   —    (3,361)   —         —         —         (3,361)
Other (expense) income    —     694     —    694     —         —         —         694 

Total other income (expense)    (17,477)   (7,397)   —    (7,397)   22,280         —         —         (2,594)
                                                            

Net Loss from continuing operations,
before tax    (25,067)   (34,326)   —    (34,326)   13,470         —         6,799         (39,124)

Income tax provision          (24)   —    (24)   —         —         —         (24)
Net Loss from continuing operations    (25,067)   (34,350)   —    (34,350)   13,470         —         6,799         (39,148)

                                                            
Loss from discontinued operations, net

of tax    —     (12,750)   12,750    —     —         —         —         — 
                                                            

Net Loss    (25,067)   (47,100)   12,750    (34,350)   13,470         —         6,799         (39,148)
                                                           

Net Loss Attributable to Non-
controlling Interest    —     (1,153)   1,153    —     —         —         —         — 
                                                            

Net Loss Attributable to Stockholders    (25,067)   (45,947)   11,597    (34,350)   13,470         —         6,799         (39,148)
Preferred Dividends    —     —     —    —     —         (1,187) HH   —         (1,187)

                                                            
Net Loss Attributable to Common

Stockholders  $ (25,067) $ (45,947) $ 11,597  $ (34,350) $ 13,470       $ (1,187)     $ 6,799       $ (40,335)

                                                            
Net Loss Per Share - Basic and Dilutive  $ (0.56)                                                $ (4.07)

                                                            
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding                                                           
Basic and Diluted    44,529,364                                                    9,919,411 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
Note 1. Basis of Presentation
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed
 combined financial information does not give effect to any anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies, tax savings, or cost
savings
that may be associated with the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is not necessarily indicative
of what the actual results of
operations and financial position would have been had the Merger and related transactions taken place on
the dates indicated, nor are they indicative of the future consolidated
results of operations or financial position of the post-combination
company. They should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and notes thereto of XTI
and Inpixon and subsidiaries.

 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance
Sheet
 
Note 1: Derived from the net assets as of December
31, 2023 of Shoom, SAVES, and Game Your Game that was divested with Grafiti LLC in tandem with the Merger, along
with the inclusion of
a $1,000,000 receivable which represents the estimated sale price of the divestiture.
 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement
of Operations
 
Note 1: To remove discontinued operations related to the CXApp spin-off
which was completed in March 2023, the discontinued operations related to the Grafiti Holdings Inc.
spin-off which was completed in December
2023, and the sale of Grafiti LLC which was determined to be held for sale and discontinued operations as of December 31, 2023.
The discontinued
 operations was derived from the audited consolidated statement of operations of Inpixon and its subsidiaries for the year ended December
 31, 2023, as
presented in the Company’s annual 10-K filing.
 
Note 2. Accounting Policies and Reclassifications
 

Upon consummation of the Merger,
management will perform a comprehensive review of the two entities’ accounting policies. As a result of the review, management
may
identify differences between the accounting policies of the two entities which, when conformed, could have a material impact on the financial
statements of Legacy XTI.
Based on its initial analysis, management did not identify any differences that would have a material impact
 on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information. As a result, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information does not assume any differences in accounting policies.

 
Note 3. Estimated Purchase Price Consideration
 

Estimated purchase price of
approximately $25,605,000 related to the Merger is comprised of the following components (in thousands):
 

Fair value of Common Stock   $ 10,939 
Fair value of Warrants     3,252 
Fair value of Preferred Stock     11,302 
Fair value of Debt Assumed     112 

Total Consideration   $ 25,605 

 
The fair value of common stock
of approximately $10,939,000 included in the total equity consideration is based on Inpixon’s closing share price of $5.27 on March

12, 2024 (which reflects the 1 to 100 reverse stock split which will go effective before the closing of the transaction).
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The Merger is a reverse acquisition.
As such, the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred is calculated based on the number of equity interests held

by
 Inpixon’s preexisting shareholders and retained post-combination. The Company determined the estimated fair value of common stock
 included in consideration to be
calculated based on the Inpixon’s common stock outstanding of 2,075,743 multiplied by the price
of Inpixon’s common stock on March 12, 2024. The Company determined the
stock price of Inpixon
will be utilized in determining fair value as it is more reliably measurable than the value of the Legacy XTI’s (accounting acquirer)
equity interests given
it is not a publicly traded entity prior to the Merger.

 
The fair value of warrants
of approximately $3,252,000 was included in the total equity consideration. A portion of this total represents 918,689 warrants outstanding

by the Company with a fair value of $1.00 per warrant which was determined by using level 3 inputs utilizing a Monte-Carlo simulation.
The remainder of this total represents
491,310 warrants with a fair value of $4.75 per warrant which was determined by using level 3 inputs
utilizing a Black-Scholes valuation.

 
The fair value of preferred stock of approximately $11,302,000 included
in the total equity consideration represents 11,302 shares of a new series of Preferred Stock

that was issued and outstanding by the Company
upon the consummation of the Merger at a stated value of $1,000 and fair value of $1,000 per share, which was determined by
using level
3 inputs utilizing a scenario-based method under the income approach.

 
The
fair value of certain consideration related to additional warrants to purchase Inpixon common stock outstanding immediately prior
to the consummation of the

Merger and equity incentive awards which will remain outstanding with the combined company were not deemed
to be significant and were not included in the purchase price
consideration for pro forma purposes.

 
Note 4. Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma
Condensed Combined Financial Information
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Merger and related transactions and has been
prepared
for informational purposes only.

 
The following unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X. The unaudited pro

forma
 condensed combined financial information has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Merger and related transactions and has been
prepared for informational
purposes only. The Company has elected not to present management adjustments and will only be presenting transaction
 accounting adjustments and autonomous entity
adjustments in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. The autonomous
entity adjustments are management estimates to reflect costs of the IIoT
business line being a standalone entity.

 
The pro forma basic and diluted
earnings per share amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations are based upon the

number of
shares of the combined company Common Stock outstanding, assuming the Merger and related transactions occurred on January 1, 2023.
 

Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet
 

The transaction accounting
adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 are as follows:
 

A. To settle XTI’s obligation related to Brody’s
2021 Promissory Note with a principal balance of $1,079,000 as of December 31, 2023, which was settled, except for
$175,000 of the principal
at the closing of the Merger. The principal was settled through issuance of 904,000 common shares of XTI at fair value of $904,000.

 
B. To account for the promissory note entered into between Inpixon
and Legacy XTI in the amount of $3,108,000 which was accounted for as an intercompany

transaction and eliminated upon consolidation of
 the combined company. Interest income is reflected net of interest expense on the Unaudited Pro Forma
Condensed Combined Statement of
Operations, and no pro forma adjustment is required.
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C. Represents estimated non-recurring transaction costs of approximately
$8,912,000 that were incurred subsequent to December 31, 2023. The estimated transaction

costs include advisory, banking, printing, legal
and accounting fees, and employee incentive amounts incurred in connection with the Merger. Total estimated
transaction costs incurred
 by Inpixon and Legacy XTI in connection with the Merger are estimated to be $5,023,000 and $8,744,000, respectively. As of
December 31,
 2023, $4,855,000 of the total combined estimated costs were accrued by Legacy XTI and Inpixon and were not included in the pro forma
adjustment. As such, the pro forma adjustment related to Legacy XTI and Inpixon represents accrued transaction costs of $6,059,000 and
$2,853,000. Inpixon
transaction costs were not paid at the close of the Merger. Legacy XTI transaction costs that were paid at the close
of the Merger in cash total $282,000. Legacy
XTI transaction costs that were settled at the close of the Merger in equity total $5,800,000.

 
D. Represents adjustments for the estimated preliminary purchase
price allocation for the Merger. The preliminary calculation of total consideration is presented

below as of March 12, 2024:
 

   
Fair
Value

(in thousands)  
Consideration(1)   $ 25,605 

Total consideration   $ 25,605 

        
Assets acquired:       

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,968 
Accounts receivable     696 
Notes and other receivables     7,929 
Inventory     3,283 
Prepaid assets and other current assets     756 
Property and equipment     246 
Warrant assets     448 
Other assets     1,202 
Tradename & trademarks     913 
Proprietary technology     2,934 
Customer relationships     702 
In-process research and development     243 
Goodwill     12,856 

Total assets acquired     35,176 
        

Liabilities assumed:       
Accounts payable     3,133 
Accrued liabilities     4,282 
Operating lease obligation     299 
Deferred revenue     824 
Warrant liability     919 
Short term debt     114 

Total liabilities assumed     9,571 
Estimated fair value of net assets acquired   $ 25,605 

 
(1) See Note 3

 
The above purchase price allocation
does not give effect to certain pro forma adjustments that were included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements
that would ultimately impact the purchase price allocation. For any proforma adjustments that were not captured within the closing balance
sheet at the time
the purchase price allocation was performed, an adjustment was made to goodwill. The impacts of these adjustments decreased
goodwill by approximately $4,866,000
on the pro forma balance sheet.
 
Approximately $7,990,000 has been allocated to goodwill pursuant to
the preliminary purchase price allocation. Goodwill will not be amortized, but instead will be
tested for impairment at least annually
or more frequently if certain indicators are present. In the event that the value of goodwill or other intangible assets have
become impaired,
an accounting charge for impairment during the period in which the determination is made may be recognized. As a nontaxable transaction,
 the
historical tax bases of the acquired assets, liabilities and tax attributes have carried over. Although no new tax goodwill has been
 created in the transaction, the
Company has approximately $5.8 million of tax deductible goodwill that arose in previous transactions
which carries over.
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Below is a summary of intangible assets
identified and acquired in connection with the Merger based on the preliminary purchase price allocation and the resulting
adjustments
to recognize the step-up in basis:
 

Identified Intangible Assets (in thousands)   Fair Value    
Fair Value

Adjustment    
Useful
Life

(Years)  
Tradename & trademarks   $ 913    $ 817      5.00 
Proprietary technology     2,934      1,595      7.00 
Customer relationships     702      (40)     5.00 
In-process research and development     243      243      Indefinite 
IP Agreement     —      (31)     N/A 
Total   $ 4,792    $ 2,584        

 
This adjustment also eliminates the
pro forma historical equity of Inpixon of approximately $4,068,000 in accordance with the acquisition accounting at closing. This
adjustment
also reflects the incremental issuance of 7,495,436 shares of the combined company Common Stock, which represents total of 7,843,668 shares
of the
combined company Common Stock to preexisting XTI shareholders less 348,232 shares outstanding of Legacy XTI that were cancelled
and replaced. Additionally,
this adjustment accounts for the merger consideration in excess of common stock at closing as additional paid-in
capital.
 
This adjustment also represents the
issuance of 1,500 shares of Series 9 Preferred Stock at a stated par value of $1,000 that was issued by Inpixon, for net proceeds of
$1,500,000.
Based on the analysis of the terms of the preferred stock, the preferred stock is equity classified.
 
This adjustment also represents the
extinguishment of short term debt and accrued liabilities the issuance of 9,802 shares of Series 9 Preferred Stock at stated par value
of $1,000 that was issued and outstanding upon the consummation of the Merger. In connection with the closing of the transaction a certain
holder of the Company’s
debt converted $9,801,521 of debt and accrued and unpaid interest into shares of Preferred Stock. Based
 on the analysis of the terms of the preferred stock, the
preferred stock is equity classified.
 

E. Represents the conversion of
XTI’s convertible notes and promissory notes and associated accrued interest to equity in the form of 32,352,666 shares of common
stock
with a fair value of approximately $21,412,000 at the date of the Merger. The pro forma adjustment reduces the principal balance
and accrued interest balance in the
amount of $20,850,000 and $229,000, respectively. The pro forma adjustment also removes XTI’s
loan conversion derivatives of $333,000. The
only debt outstanding
are portions of promissory notes that have a principal and accrued interest balance of $347,000 and $331,000, respectively,
as of December 31, 2023.

 
F. Represents the relinquishment of an XTI related party payable
of $335,000 that was forgiven upon the closing of the transaction. This was reflected by a contribution

of capital on the unaudited pro
forma condensed consolidated balance sheet due to the related party nature of the transaction.
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Autonomous Entity Adjustments to Unaudited
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations
 

The autonomous entity adjustments
included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as
follows:
 

AA. Represents the removal of contractual costs related to Inpixon’s
CEO, CFO, and internal legal counsel costs for the year ended December 31, 2023 of approximately
$1,740,000 as these costs will not be
incurred by the combined company.

 
BB. Represents an adjustment to remove $889,000 in expenses that
 were incurred for the year ended December 31, 2023 regarding the CXApp spin-off which was

completed in March 2023. In addition, represents
 adjustment to remove expense related to other non-operational transactions of $4,170,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

 
Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations
 

The transaction accounting
adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 are
as
follows:
 

CC. Represents incremental adjustments to intangible asset amortization
for the step-up in basis of intangible assets subject to amortization acquired in connection with
the Merger assuming the Merger occurred
on January 1, 2023. The following table is a summary of information related to certain intangible assets acquired, including
information
used to calculate the amortization expense for each period presented:

 

             
Amortization

for Period  

Identified Intangible Assets (in thousands)   Fair Value    
Years of

Amortization    

Year Ended
December 31,

2023  
Tradename & trademarks   $ 913      5.00    $       183 
Proprietary technology     2,934      7.00      419 
Customer relationships     702      5.00      140 
In-process research and development     243      Indefinite      — 
Total amortization expense                 $ 742 

 
DD. Reflects the transaction costs of approximately $13,767,000
to be expensed as if incurred on January 1, 2023, the date the Merger occurred for the purposes of the

unaudited pro forma condensed
combined statement of operations. This is a non-recurring item. Below represents a summary of the transaction costs associated with
the
Merger (in thousands).
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Third party fees (legal, accounting, investment, etc.)   $ 3,093 
Third party fees - paid in stock     3,525 
Bonuses/incentives in connection with Merger – paid in stock     2,126 

Estimated Legacy XTI transaction costs     8,744 
        

Third party fees (legal, accounting, investment, etc.)     2,765 
Severance packages in connection with Merger     2,258 

Estimated Inpixon transaction costs     5,023 
Total Estimated Transaction Costs   $ 13,767 

 
Of the amounts above approximately,
 $4,855,000 had previously been expensed. As such, $8,911,000 was expensed on the unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statement
 of operations. See Note C and D for pro forma adjustments related to accounting of additional transaction costs incurred subsequent to
December 31, 2023 on the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet.

 
The adjustment also reclassifies $840,000
of transaction costs incurred by XTI that were recorded in general and administrative costs on the unaudited pro forma
condensed consolidated
statement of operations.

 
EE. Represents adjustment to remove the change in fair value
related to Legacy XTI’s JV obligation which is to be converted into equity at the time of the Merger. The

change in fair value
for the year ended December 31, 2023 represented a gain of $196,000.
 

FF. Represents adjustment to remove
interest expense of $491,000, debt discount amortization of $525,000,
loan costs amortization of $88,000, loss on extinguishment of
notes of $6,635,000, change in fair
value of notes of $9,144,000, and the change in fair value of loan conversion derivatives of $108,000
related to XTI’s convertible
notes that were converted at the closing of the Merger, outlined in Note F, for the year ended December
31, 2023. Additionally, the adjustment removes non-cash
interest expense of $2,627,000 related to Inpixon’s notes and amortization
of debt discounts that were converted at the closing of the Merger. The interest expense
would not be incurred as a result of the conversion
on consummation of the Merger. Additionally, the adjustment removes note extension fee and note monitoring fee
amortization expense of
$1,003,000 related to Inpixon’s notes that were converted at the closing of the Merger.

 
GG. Represents adjustments to remove interest expense of $1,463,000
related to Inpixon’s conversion of debt, outlined in Note E, for the year ended December 31, 2023.
 
HH. Represents adjustments to record preferred dividends and
preferred returns of $1,187,000 related to the issuance of Series 9 Preferred Stock as outlined in Note E for

the year ended December
31, 2023. The terms of the Series 9 Preferred Stock require quarterly dividends beginning on the one year anniversary of the issuance
date
of the preferred stock, and are payable on a quarterly basis. The quarterly dividend rate is 2% per quarter and will increase to
3% per quarter on the second year
anniversary of the issuance date. The Series 9 Preferred Stock also requires a preferred return on
the stated value at the rate of 10% per year, and shall be payable on a
quarterly basis. As the proforma financial statements give effect
to the Merger as if it had occurred on January 1, 2023, the adjustment does not include the preferred
dividends as the dividends begin
on the one year anniversary of the issuance date.
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Note 5. Net Loss per Share
 

Net loss per share was calculated
using the historical weighted average shares outstanding, and the issuance of additional shares in connection with the Merger and the
related transactions, assuming the shares were outstanding since January 1, 2023. As the Merger and the related transactions are being
reflected as if they had occurred at the
beginning of the earliest period presented, the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding
 for basic and diluted net loss per share assumes that the shares issuable
relating to the Merger and related transactions have been outstanding
for the entirety of all periods presented.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information has been prepared for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands, except share and per
share data):
 

   

Year
Ended
December 31,

2023 (1)  

   
Common

Stock  
Pro forma net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (40,335)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted     9,919,411 
Pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted   $ (4.07)

Excluded securities:(2)(3)       
Options     1,070,024 
Warrants     1,831,076 
Convertible preferred stock     2 
Convertible notes     4,611 

 
(1) Pro
 forma net loss per share includes the related pro forma adjustments as referred to within the section “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
 Combined Financial

Information.”
(2) The
potentially dilutive outstanding securities were excluded from the computation of pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted, because
their effect would have been

anti-dilutive.  The total amount of dilutive warrants includes 0.9 million unexercised of the
1.5 million warrants that were issued in May 2023, and the 0.5 million of the
unexercised warrants that were issued in December 2023.

(3) The
new series of preferred stock is excluded from the anti-dilutive securities as the holders of the new series of preferred stock are not
expected to participate in any
dividends, distributions, or payments to the holders of Common Stock based on the terms of the securities.
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Exhibit 99.3
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following discussion of our financial condition
 and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes included
elsewhere in this
filing. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results
are likely to differ from
those discussed in the forward-looking statements.
 
Business Overview
 
Headquartered in Englewood, Colorado, the Company
is developing a vertical takeoff and landing (“VTOL”) aircraft that takes off and lands like a helicopter and cruises like a
fixed-wing business aircraft. We believe our initial configuration, the TriFan 600, will be one of the first civilian fixed-wing VTOL
aircraft that offers the speed and comfort of
a business aircraft and the range and versatility of VTOL for a wide range of customer applications,
 including private aviation for business and high net worth individuals,
emergency medical services, and commuter and regional air travel.
Since 2013, we have been engaged primarily in developing the design and engineering concepts for the
TriFan 600, building and testing
a two-thirds scale unmanned version of the TriFan 600, generating pre-orders for the TriFan 600, and seeking funds from investors to enable
the Company to build full-scale piloted prototypes of the TriFan 600, and to eventually engage in commercial development of the TriFan
600.
 
Plan of Operations and Operating Results
 
As of the date of this filing, we have not yet
determined whether we will (i) be an OEM and assemble the TriFan 600 with parts purchased from third-party specialized aviation
component
suppliers, or (ii) partner with a third-party OEM who will assemble the aircraft.
 
Although the main source of our revenue will be
aircraft sales, training, maintenance, leasing, insurance, and aircraft maintenance programs may provide additional revenue
streams.
 
We have hired a number of employees and consultants
to accelerate the development of the aircraft. We intend to continue our development of the TriFan by engaging key
supply partners, establishing
vendors of key components of the full-scale Test Aircraft #1, commissioning and completing trade studies, and completing the development
design
review of the TriFan. We will need additional capital to complete our development of the series of Test Aircraft and beyond and
are pursuing multiple alternatives for such
funding.
 
We will continue to develop an internal and external
sales and marketing capability to increase awareness of the aircraft and position the Company to continue taking customer
orders and deposits.
We believe that increasing awareness of the aircraft and demonstrating customer demand through sales orders will enhance the Company’s
 ability to
continue raising capital in the future.
 
We have a ten-year operating history and have
 generated no revenues since our inception. We do not believe we will be able to generate revenues without successfully
completing the
certification of the proposed TriFan 600 aircraft.
 
Key Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations
 
We believe that the growth of our business and
our future success are dependent upon many factors, including our ability to retain and develop engineering internal and third-
party resources,
 secure strategic partnerships with suppliers, expand the number of customer purchase orders, locate a facility for further aircraft development
 and testing,
expand on that facility or locate to a new facility for commercial production, build-out production assembly lines in a timely
manner, develop ancillary service offerings related
to the TriFan 600 such as flight training, insurance programs and maintenance products,
and secure the needed financing to achieve FAA certification.
 
While each of these areas presents significant
opportunities for us, they also pose material challenges and risks that we must successfully address in order to achieve FAA
certification
of the TriFan 600 and further reach our current aircraft delivery forecasts.
 
Economic and Market Factors
 
Our operations, partners, customers and potential
suppliers are subject to various global macroeconomic factors. We expect to continue to remain vulnerable to a number of
industry-specific
and global macroeconomic factors that may cause (i) continued challenges in securing financing to achieve FAA certification of the TriFan
600, and (ii) our
actual results of operations to differ from our historical results of operations or current expectations. The factors
 and trends that we currently believe are or will be most
impactful to our results of operations and financial condition include the following:
the ongoing downturn in the capital markets; the impact on us of significant operational
challenges by third parties on which we rely;
 the difficulty of attracting capital for a capital-intensive phase of our business; attracting and retaining talent; inflationary
pressures;
potential labor and supply chain shortages affecting us and our partners; volatile fuel prices; and changes in general economic conditions
in the markets in which we
operate.
 
We continue to monitor the potential favorable
 or unfavorable impacts of these and other factors on our business, operations, financial condition and future results of
operations.
 

 



 

 
Recent Events
 
Merger with Inpixon
 
On July 24, 2023, we entered into an Agreement
and Plan of Merger (amended on December 30, 2023 and March 12, 2024), the “XTI Merger Agreement”) by and among us,
Inpixon,
Inc. (Inpixon), a Nevada corporation, Superfly Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and Inpixon’s then wholly-owned subsidiary
(“Merger Sub”).
 
Pursuant to the XTI Merger Agreement, on March
12, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), the Company merged with and into Merger Sub (the “XTI Merger”), with XTI surviving
the
XTI Merger as Inpixon’s wholly-owned subsidiary. Following the effective time of the XTI Merger (the “Effective Time”)
on the Closing Date, Inpixon amended its articles of
incorporation to change its name from “Inpixon” to “XTI Aerospace,
Inc”. (“XTI Aerospace”) and the combined company opened for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on
March 13, 2024 under
the new ticker symbol “XTIA”.
 
Immediately prior to the Effective Time, all but
$175,000 of the total principal and accrued interest balance of the convertible note issued by us to Dave Brody on October 1,
2023, as
amended on March 12, 2024, was converted into shares of XTI common stock immediately prior to the Effective Time, enabling him to participate
in the XTI Merger
on the same basis as the other shares of XTI common stock. The remaining $175,000 loan balance was repaid to Mr. Brody
on April 1, 2024. 
 
Key Components of Our Results of Operations
 
The following is a summary of the principal line
items comprising our operating results.
 
Research and Development Expenses
 
Research and development expenses consist primarily
of costs incurred in connection with the research and development of the TriFan 600 aircraft. These expenses include:
 

● employee-related expenses, including salaries and benefits
for personnel engaged in research and development functions;
 

● expenses incurred in connection with XTI’s research
and development activities, including under agreements with third parties such as consultants and contractors; and
 

● software and technology-related expenses to support computer-aided
design of the aircraft, flight simulations, and other technology needs of our engineers.
 
Research and development costs are expensed as
incurred. We expect our research and development expenses to increase significantly as we increase staffing to support aircraft
engineering
and software development, build aircraft prototypes and continue to explore and develop technologies.
 
We cannot determine with certainty the timing,
duration or the costs necessary to complete the design, development, certification, and manufacturing of our TriFan 600 aircraft
due to
 the inherently unpredictable nature of our research and development activities. Development timelines, the probability of success, and
development costs may differ
materially from expectations.
 
Selling and Marketing Expenses
 
Selling and marketing costs include activities
such as aircraft reservation procurement, public relations and business opportunity advancement. These functions mainly generate
expenses
relating to travel, trade show fees and costs, salaries and benefits. Selling and marketing expenses are expensed as incurred.
 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily
of salaries and related costs for personnel in executive, finance, corporate and business development, and administrative
functions. General
and administrative expenses also include legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters, including noncapitalizable transaction costs;
professional fees
for accounting, auditing, tax and administrative consulting services; insurance costs, facility related expenses including
maintenance and allocated expenses for rent and other
operating costs.
 
We anticipate that general and administrative
expenses will increase substantially in the future as we increase our headcount to support continued research and development and
commercialization
of the TriFan 600.
 
Merger-related Transaction Costs
 
Merger-related transaction costs consist primarily
of accounting and legal professional fees and transaction bonuses related to the XTI Merger.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense consists primarily of (i) interest
relating to convertible and promissory notes, and (ii) debt discount amortization relating to warrants and stock options issued in
conjunction
with convertible notes.
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Changes in Fair
Value of Warrants, JV Obligation, Convertible Notes at Fair Value, and Loan Conversion Derivative Liability
 
Warrant shares issued
 to third parties and our obligation to the joint venture counterparty under the now-expired joint venture when classified as liabilities
 are subject to
remeasurement to fair value at each balance sheet date. Refer to the discussion of our joint venture under the section
entitled “XTI Joint Venture Agreement.”
 
We further expect to
 incur an incremental income (expense) in the statements of operations for the fair value adjustments for certain convertible notes and
 loan conversion
derivative liability at the end of each reporting period.
 
Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023
to the Year Ended December 31, 2022
 
The following table sets forth our audited statements
of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The information has been prepared on the same basis
as our audited
financial statements, included elsewhere in this filing, and includes, in our opinion, all adjustments, necessary to state fairly our
results of operations for these
periods. This data should be read in conjunction with our financial statements included elsewhere in this
filing. These results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the
future results of operations that may be expected for any future
period.
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,     Period Over Period Change  
(All amounts in U.S. dollars)   2023     2022     $     %  
Operating expenses:                    
Research and development   $ 1,380,503    $ 2,963,873    $ (1,583,370)     (53)%
Selling and marketing     721,328      728,823      (7,495)     (1)%
General and administrative     3,614,814      10,269,389      (6,654,575)     (65)%
Merger-related transaction costs     1,845,137      419,028      1,426,109      340%
Amortization of intangibles     27,560      26,579      981      4%
Total operating expenses     7,589,342      14,407,692      (6,818,350)     (47)%
Operating loss     (7,589,342)     (14,407,692)     6,818,350      (47)%
Interest expense     (1,141,751)     (789,608)     (352,143)     45%
Amortization of deferred loan costs     (87,955)     (87,955)     -      0%
Income from stock option forfeitures     -      14,469,884      (14,469,884)     * 
Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes     (6,634,898)     -      (6,634,898)     * 
Change in fair value of convertible notes     (9,143,801)     -      (9,143,801)     * 
Change in fair value of warrant liability     (164,309)     11,948      (176,257)     (1,475)%
Change in fair value of JV obligation     (196,055)     330,501      (526,556)     (159)%
Change in fair value of loan conversion derivative liability     (108,151)     -      (108,151)     * 
Net loss   $ (25,066,262)   $ (472,922)   $ (24,593,340)     5,200%

 
* Comparisons between positive and negative numbers and with a zero are not meaningful
 
Operating Expenses
 
Operating expenses decreased by $6,818,350, or
47%, to $7,589,342 for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $14,407,692 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
decrease was primarily
driven by decreases in (i) research and development expenditures of $1,583,370, and (ii) stock-based compensation expense relating to
option awards
and warrant grants of $6,607,129. These decreases were partially offset by
increased professional expenditures of $1,426,109 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2022 relating
to merger transaction efforts. 
 
Research and Development
 
Research and development costs to advance development
of the TriFan 600 aircraft decreased by $1,583,370, or 53%, to $1,380,503 for the year ended December 31, 2023,
from $2,963,873 for the
year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily driven by an effort to conserve cash which involved (i) reducing expenditures
relating to
the use of third-party engineering consultants, and (ii) a hiring freeze of engineers.
 
Selling and Marketing
 
Selling and marketing expenses decreased by $7,495,
or 1%, to $721,328 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $728,823 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
decrease was primarily
driven by reduced industry trade event participation in 2023 versus 2022.
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General and Administrative
 
General and administrative costs decreased by
$6,654,575, or 65%, to $3,614,814 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $10,269,389 for the year ended December 31,
2022. The decline
was primarily attributed to (i) a decrease in stock-based compensation expense relating to warrant issuances of $3,567,644 as the Company
 recognized
$3,689,030 of expense during the year ended December 31, 2022 relating to the issuance of a warrant to a regional aviation
operator in conjunction with a conditional aircraft
purchase order, and (ii) a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $3,039,485
 relating to stock options granted to members of the executive management team,
employees, and other service providers as compensation
for services.
 
Merger-related transaction costs
 
Merger-related transactions costs increased by $1,426,109 for the year
 ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior year driven by increased professional fees and
transaction bonuses relating to the XTI Merger
which closed during the first quarter of 2024.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense, which includes debt discount
amortization, increased by $352,143 from $789,608 for the year ended December 31, 2022 to $1,141,751 for the year ended
December 31, 2023,
as we recognized increased interest expense of $239,851 and amortization of debt discounts of $112,292. The increase in total interest
expense was driven
by new convertible and promissory notes that were issued during 2022 and 2023. Debt discounts are related to stock
options and warrants granted to investors in conjunction
with the convertible notes.
 
Amortization of Deferred Loan Costs
 
We recognized loan cost amortization expense of
 $87,955 and $87,955 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, relating to a convertible note that
originated in May
2021.
 
Income from Stock Option Forfeitures
 
We recognized $14,469,884 in income relating to
stock option forfeitures during the year ended December 31, 2022 primarily as a result of two executives departing XTI and
thereby forfeiting
their previous vested stock option awards back to the Company’s option plan.
 
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt and Change in
Fair Value of Convertible Notes
 
On November 1, 2023, the Company and certain convertible
noteholders agreed to amend the convertible notes to extend the maturity date and to revise the conversion terms.
The amendment to the
 convertible notes was accounted for as an extinguishment of debt and reissuance of the convertible notes in accordance with ASC 470-50,
Debt –
Modifications and Extinguishments, due to the addition of a substantive conversion feature. As the Company elected to
account for these convertible notes using the fair value
option, the Company measured the convertible notes at a fair value, which resulted
in a loss on extinguishment of $6,634,898. As of the December 31, 2023 reporting date, the
Company re-measured the convertible notes at
fair value resulting in the convertible notes balance being increased by an additional $9,143,801.
 
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability
 
During the years ended December 31 2023 and 2022,
we recognized a fair market value adjustment loss of $164,309 and a fair market value adjustment gain of $11,948,
respectively, relating
to private placement warrant liabilities.
 
Change in Fair Value of JV Obligation
 
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
we recognized a fair market value adjustment loss of $196,055 and a fair market value adjustment gain of $330,501,
respectively, relating
to the JV Obligation. Refer to the discussion of our joint venture in the section below entitled “XTI Joint Venture Agreement.”
 
Change in Fair Value of Loan Conversion Derivative
Liability
 
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
 the Company recognized a fair market value adjustment loss of $108,151 and $0, respectively, related to embedded
conversion derivatives
associated with certain convertible notes entered into during 2022 and 2023
 
Risk and Uncertainties
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a working
capital deficit of approximately $13,028,000, and cash of approximately $4,600. For the year ended December 31,
2023, the Company
 had a net loss of approximately $25,066,000. During the year ended December  31, 2023, the Company used approximately $4,180,000 of
 cash for
operating activities.
 
The Company cannot assure you that we will ever
earn revenues sufficient to support our operations, or that we will ever be profitable. In order to continue our operations, we
have supplemented
the revenues we earned with proceeds from the sale of our equity and debt securities and proceeds from loans and bank credit lines.
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The Company’s recurring losses and utilization
of cash in its operations are indicators of going concern. The Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2023 have
been prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern for the next twelve months from the date the financial
 statements are issued.
Management’s plans and assessment of the probability that such plans will mitigate and alleviate any substantial
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern is dependent upon the ability to obtain additional equity or debt
financing, and attain further operating efficiency, which together represent the principal conditions that
raise substantial doubt about
our ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2023 do not include any adjustments
 that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Liquidity describes the ability of a company to
generate sufficient cash flows to meet the cash requirements of its business operations, including working capital needs, debt
service,
contractual obligations and other commitments. We assess liquidity in terms of our cash flows from financing activities and their sufficiency
to fund our operating and
investing activities. As of December 31, 2023, our principal source of liquidity was cash of approximately $4,600.
 
To date, we have funded our operations primarily
with proceeds from the now expired joint venture that commenced in 2021, customer reservation deposits, issuances of
common stock to private
investors, and issuances of convertible and promissory notes.
 
XTI Joint Venture Agreement
 
Effective May 31, 2021, the Company and Xeriant
Inc. entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (“Agreement”) and other ancillary agreements under which Xeriant agreed to
provide
 $10 million of funding to the Joint Venture (the “Intended Contribution”) to enable us to complete the preliminary design
 review of our TriFan 600 aircraft. In
furtherance of the purpose of the Agreement, the Company granted a non-exclusive license to the
joint venture to utilize our technology to complete the preliminary design of
the aircraft. Xeriant provided a total of approximately
$5.4 million of funding under the Agreement and ceased providing funding in December 2021. The Agreement and the
ancillary agreements
expired by their terms on May 31, 2023. The relevant agreements require that our technology and the assets developed by the joint venture
be transferred
back to us in exchange for Xeriant’s interest in the joint venture. Although Xeriant did not make the full Intended
Contribution, it is entitled to receive a pro rata portion of the
agreed 10% of our common stock it would have received in exchange for
its joint venture interest had it made the full Intended Contribution.
 
In satisfaction of its obligations and immediately
prior to the effective time of the XTI Merger, the Company issued 3,342,998 shares (representing 5.4% of our fully diluted
outstanding
shares as of the joint venture expiration date of May 31, 2023) to Xeriant in exchange for Xeriant’s interest in the joint venture.
 
Customer Reservation Deposits
 
As of the date of this filing, we received conditional
pre-orders under a combination of non-binding aircraft purchase agreements, reservation deposit agreements, options and
letters of intent
for aircraft which generated approximately $1,350,000 of cash from customer reservation deposits. These funds from customer reservation
deposits will not be
recorded as revenue until the orders for aircraft are delivered, which may not be for many years or at all if we
do not deliver the aircraft. The deposits prioritize orders when the
aircraft becomes available for delivery. Customers making deposits
are not obligated to purchase aircraft until they execute a definitive purchase agreement. Customers may
request a return of their refundable
deposit any time up until the execution of a purchase agreement. Customers’ request for a return of their refundable deposits could
adversely
affect our liquidity resources and we may be financially unable to return such deposits.
 
Debt Financing
 
Since our inception through the date of this filing, we have raised
approximately $9.6 million from the issuance of convertible and promissory notes, net of commissions.
 
Inpixon Promissory Note & Security Agreement
 
On July 24, 2023 and in conjunction with the merger
 agreement, the Company and Inpixon agreed to consolidate existing promissory notes into a new Senior Secured
Promissory Note (“Inpixon
 Promissory Note”) with an initial principal balance of $535,407. Prior to subsequent amendments, the
 Inpixon Promissory Note provided an
aggregate principal amount up to $2,313,407. The Inpixon Promissory Note bears interest at 10% per
annum, compounded annually, and for each future loan, beginning on the
date the future loan is advanced to us.
 
The outstanding principal amount under the Inpixon
Promissory Note, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, shall be due and payable upon the earlier of (a) March 31,
2024, (b) when
declared due and payable by Inpixon upon the occurrence of an event of default, or (c) within three business days following termination
of the XTI Merger
Agreement (i) by us because our Board adopts a superior proposal prior to delivering the XTI Stockholder Consent, or
(ii) by Inpixon because the our Board has made a change
in recommendation, or we have breached or failed to perform in any material respect
any of its covenants and agreements regarding obtaining its required stockholder approval
or non-solicitation. The Inpixon Promissory
Note will be forgiven and of no further force if the XTI Merger Agreement is terminated by Inpixon’s Board because it adopts a
superior
proposal prior to obtaining the required Inpixon stockholder approval, subject to Inpixon’s rights and remedies under the Promissory
Note, the Security Agreement,
and the Merger Agreement. If the XTI Merger Agreement is terminated by us because the Inpixon Board makes
a change in recommendation or Inpixon is in material breach of
its covenants and agreements regarding obtaining its required stockholder
approval or non-solicitation, the maturity date of the Inpixon Promissory Note will be extended to
December 31, 2024.
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The Security Agreement grants Inpixon a first
priority security interest in and lien upon all of our property to secure the repayment of the Inpixon Promissory Note.
 
On November 13, 2023, the Inpixon Promissory Note
was amended and restated to provide for an additional $700,000 in future loans. The restated principal balance of the
Inpixon Promissory
Note per the first amendment was $2,370,187, which included the total of all previous cash advances made by Inpixon to us plus accrued
interest on those
cash advances through November 13, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the principal balance of the Inpixon Promissory Note
was $3,070,187.
 
On January 30, 2024, the Company and Inpixon executed
a second amendment to the Inpixon Promissory Note which extended the maturity date to March 31, 2024 and
increased the maximum available
for borrowing under the note to $4,000,000. As the Company became a subsidiary of XTI Aerospace because of the XTI Merger, both parties
intend to legally cancel this intercompany (post-merger) promissory note during the second quarter of 2024.
 
Crowdfunding
 
Between July 2016 and May 2021, we completed three
crowdfunding campaigns under Reg A (two campaigns) and Reg CF (one campaign) offerings. We raised approximately
$2,190,000 in cash, net
of commissions and other offering costs, in exchange for our common stock from these crowdfunding campaigns.
 
Other Private Placement Equity Financing
 
Since our inception through the date of this filing,
we have raised approximately $955,000 in cash from common stock issuances in private placements to individual private
investors.
 
Historical Cash Flows
 
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023
and 2022
 
The following table sets forth a summary of our
cash flows for the periods indicated:
 

    For the Years Ended  
    December 31,  
    2023     2022  

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (4,180,320)   $ (4,827,792)
Net cash used in investing activities     (17,377)     (4,067)
Net cash provided by financing activities     4,087,515      630,225 
               
Net decrease in cash     (110,182)     (4,201,634)
               
Cash - beginning of period     114,762      4,316,396 
               
Cash - end of period   $ 4,580    $ 114,762 

 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
 
Net cash used in operating activities during the
periods indicated consisted of the following:
 

   
For the Years

Ended  
    December 31,  
    2023     2022  

Net loss   $ (25,066,262)   $ (472,922)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              
Depreciation expense     10,528      12,038 
Amortization of intangible assets     27,560      26,597 
Amortization of deferred loan costs     87,955      87,955 
Amortization of debt discount     525,261      412,969 
Stock-based compensation     1,644,908      8,252,037 
Income from stock option forfeitures     -      (14,469,884)
Loss on extinguishment of convertible notes     6,634,898      - 
Change in fair value of convertible notes     9,143,801      - 
Change in fair value of warrant liability     164,309      (11,948)
Change in fair value of JV obligation     196,056      (330,501)
Change in fair value of loan conversion derivative liability     108,151      - 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities     2,342,515      1,665,867 
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (4,180,320)   $ (4,827,792)
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Our cash flows used in operating activities to
date have been primarily comprised of payroll, software and technology expenses, and professional services related to research
and development
and general and administrative activities. As we raise additional capital, we expect to increase hiring to accelerate our engineering
efforts ahead of having an
operational assembly facility. We further expect our cash used in operating activities to increase significantly
before we start to generate any material cash flows from our
operations.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the increase
 in changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily attributed to (i) increases in accounts payable and accrued
compensation,
and (ii) an increase in accrued interest relating to outstanding convertible and promissory notes. For the year ended December 31, 2022,
the increase in changes
in operating assets and liabilities was primarily attributed to (i) the Company receiving $250,000 in proceeds
 from aircraft reservation deposits, (ii) an increase in accrued
compensation and bonuses, and (iii) an increase in accrued interest relating
to outstanding convertible and promissory notes.
 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
 
Net cash used in investing activities for the
years ended December 31, 203 and 2022 includes legal costs incurred relating to our patents.
 
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
 
2023
 
On January 30, 2023, we entered into a convertible
note agreement with an existing convertible note and stock option holder. The note has a principal amount of $300,000 and
accrues interest
at a rate of 10.0% per annum. In conjunction with the convertible note, we issued warrants for the purchase of a total of 39,063 shares
of common stock at an
exercise price of $1.92. The warrants are exercisable upon the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years.
The note matures on October 21, 2025. The holder of the
note has the right to receive repayment of the note upon maturity in either cash
 or in shares of common stock of the Company at a value of $1.25 per share. The share
conversion may occur prior to October 21, 2025 at
 the option of the holder, or automatically converted by the Company upon the occurrence of a Qualified Financing,
Qualified Business Combination,
or Change of Control as defined in the note agreement. See Note 4 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this filing for more
information regarding this convertible note.
 
On January 5, 2023, we entered into a promissory
note agreement with our Chairman and majority shareholder, David Brody. The note has a principal amount of $125,000 and
accrues interest
at a rate of 5% per annum. The note matures at the earlier of (i) thirty (30) days after the closing of the Business Combination, or (ii)
January 5, 2024.
 
On May 9, 2023, the principal and accrued
interest of an existing convertible note plus an additional $450,000 in cash were combined into a new replacement convertible note
(the
“Replacement Note”) with a principal amount of $1,986,918. The existing convertible note entered into on April 1, 2021
was cancelled in connection with the issuance of
the Replacement Note. The Replacement Note accrues interest at a rate of 10% per annum
 and matures on December  31, 2026. The noteholder has the right to receive
repayment of the principal balance plus accrued interest
at any time prior to the maturity date in shares of common stock of the Company at a value of $1.00 per share. If the
noteholder has not
provided the Company with prior written notice to either convert the Replacement Note into shares or to demand cash repayment of the note
on the maturity
date, the remaining principal balance of the Replacement Note plus accrued interest will automatically convert into shares
on the maturity date.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, we received
proceeds of approximately $3.0 million from a senior secured promissory note issued to Inpixon Inc.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, we received
proceeds of $224,000 from an issuance and sale of 179,200 shares of common stock to a non-executive officer and his
family member.
 
We also repaid $13,985 in promissory notes during
2023.
 
2022
 
On October 21, 2022, the Company entered into
 a convertible note agreement with an existing convertible note holder. The note has a principal amount of $600,000 and
accrues interest
at a rate of 10.0% per annum.
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In conjunction with the convertible note, the
 Company issued warrants for the purchase of a total of 150,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.92. The
warrants are
exercisable upon the date of grant through the contractual term of 5 years. The note matures on October 21, 2025. The holder of the note
has the right to receive
repayment of the note upon maturity in either cash or in shares of common stock of the Company at a value of
$1.25 per share. However, the share conversion may occur prior
to October 21, 2025 at the option of the holder, or automatically converted
by the Company upon the occurrence of a Qualified Financing, Qualified Business Combination, or
Change of Control as defined in the note
agreement. See Note 4 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this filing for more information regarding this convertible
note.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, we received
$50,225 in proceeds from the private placement issuance and sale of 28,700 shares of common stock at $1.75 per share.
 
We also repaid $20,000 in promissory notes during
2022.
 
Commitments and Contractual Obligations
 
Leases
 
We had an operating lease
for engineering software, which was for a 12-month term, that matured on December 10, 2023. Under the software lease, we made approximately
$74,000 in lease payments during the year ended December 31, 2023. Upon maturity of this software lease, we entered into a new replacement
software lease arrangement with
the same leasing company in December 2023 for another 12-month term, with monthly lease payments of approximately
$8,100 commencing in March 2024 and ending in
December 2024. We will make a total of approximately $73,000 in lease payments in 2024 relating
to the replacement software lease.
 
Effective January 1, 2024, the Company moved into
 a new corporate office location at Centennial Airport in Englewood, Colorado. In conjunction with this move, the
Company entered into
a four-year sublease arrangement with an initial base rent of $8,966 per month. The rent under the sublease arrangement is subject to
annual escalations.
The Company will make a total of approximately $108,000 in lease payments during 2024 relating to this new office
sublease.
 
Consulting Agreement with Scott Pomeroy
 
Mr. Pomeroy entered into a consulting agreement
dated July 1, 2022, as amended effective January 1, 2023, that provided for his engagement as our Chief Financial Officer.
The agreement
provided that Mr. Pomeroy receive a monthly compensation of $17,500. Pursuant to the consulting agreement and in connection with the closing
of the XTI
Merger, Mr. Pomeroy received 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Effective upon closing time of the XTI Merger,
 Mr. Pomeroy was appointed as XTI
Aerospace’s Chief Executive Officer. It is anticipated that XTI Aerospace and Mr. Pomeroy will enter
 into an employment agreement on terms to be approved by the XTI
Aerospace Board but which are expected to provide for an annual base salary
of approximately $400,000 and a cash bonus target in an amount of up to 150% of base salary
upon the satisfaction of certain performance
criteria and milestones which shall be determined and approved by XTI Aerospace’s Compensation Committee. 
 
Financial Advisory Fees in connection
with the XTI Merger
 
Pursuant to the terms of an amended advisory fees
 agreement among us, Inpxion and Maxim Group (“Maxim”) and in accordance with the XTI Merger Agreement, the
Company issued
4,317,279 shares of common stock to Maxim immediately prior to the closing time of the XTI Merger. Additionally, Maxim will receive $200,000
payable
upon the closing of one or more debt or equity financings for which Maxim serves as placement agent or underwriter and in which
XTI Aerospace raises minimum aggregate
gross proceeds of $10 million following the Effective Time.
 
Pursuant to an engagement letter dated as of June
 7, 2022, as amended (the “Chardan Engagement Letter”) and the XTI Merger Agreement, Chardan Capital Markets
(“Chardan”)
 received 2,117,817 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Chardan Closing Shares”) immediately prior to the merger
closing time and received a cash
payment commitment of $200,000. If within 90 days following the Effective Time, XTI Aerospace consummates
a public offering of securities in which the price per share of
XTI Aerospace common stock (“Chardan Qualified Offering price”)
 is less than the per share price of Inpixon common stock utilized to calculate the number of Chardan
Closing Shares, XTI Aerospace will
be required, subject to applicable securities laws, to issue additional shares of XTI Aerospace common stock to Chardan in an amount
equal
to (i) $1,000,000 minus the product of the number of Chardan Closing Shares and Chardan Qualified Offering Price, divided by (ii) the
Chardan Qualified Offeing Price.
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Deferred Compensation and Retention Bonus
Plan
 
In an effort to conserve cash, we implemented
a cost savings plan, effective on July 1, 2022. As part of the cost savings plan, we installed a compensation reduction directive
and
 retention bonus program impacting all employees and several current consultants, which is in effect until the Company secures sufficient
 financing as determined by
executive management. Accrued deferred compensation amounts will be repaid to participating individuals when
executive management, at its sole discretion, determines that
sufficient funding has been received by the Company, provided, in the case
of employees, that such employees remain employed with the Company on such date.
 
As part of the plan, we granted participants a
retention bonus, of either cash or equity, at the participant’s discretion, equal in value to three months of their monthly deferred
compensation amount, if cash, or six months of their monthly deferred compensation amount, if equity, if the employee remains with XTI
at the “earn date,” which is defined as
six months after the date on which the deferred compensation described above is repaid.
 
As of December 31, 2023, liability amounts of
 approximately $740,000 and $220,000 are included in Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities and Related Party
Payables, respectively,
on the accompanying balance sheets relating to deferred compensation and retention bonuses under this plan.
 
Upon receiving additional financing during the
first quarter of 2023, we restored the salaries of all employees to the original salary amount, effective with the semi-monthly
payroll
ending March 31, 2023.
 
Contingencies
 
Xeriant Inc. vs. XTI Aircraft Company
 
On December 6, 2023, Xeriant, Inc. (“Xeriant”)
filed a complaint against XTI, along with two unnamed companies and five unnamed persons, in the United States District
Court for the
Southern District of New York. The complaint, as amended in January and February 2024, alleges that XTI, through multiple breaches and
fraudulent actions, has
caused substantial harm to Xeriant and has prevented it from obtaining compensation owed to it under various agreements
entered into between Xeriant and XTI, including but
not limited to a joint venture agreement, a cross-patent license agreement, an operating
agreement, and a letter agreement. In particular, Xeriant contends that XTI gained
substantial advantages from the intellectual property,
expertise, and capital deployed by Xeriant in the design and development of XTI’s TriFan 600 aircraft yet has excluded
Xeriant from
the transaction involving the TriFan 600 technology in our merger with Inpixon, which has resulted in a breach of the Letter Agreement,
in addition to the other
aforementioned agreements. Xeriant, in the second amended complaint, asserts the following causes of action:
 (1) breach of contract; (2) intentional fraud; (3) fraudulent
concealment; (4) quantum meruit; (5) unjust enrichment; (6) unfair competition/deceptive
business practices; and (7) misappropriation of confidential information, and seeks
damages in excess of $500 million, injunctive relief
enjoining us from engaging in any further misconduct, the imposition of a royalty obligation, and such other relief as
deemed appropriate
by the court. On March 13, 2024, XTI moved for partial dismissal of the complaint, Counts 2 through 7 in particular. XTI argued that Counts
2 through 7
are (1) impermissible attempts to repackage claims arising from contractual dispute as quasi-contractual or tort claims; and
(2) expressly refuted by the clear and unequivocal
terms of the aforementioned agreements. The case is in its early stages, no discovery
with respect to the Company has occurred, and we are unable to estimate the likelihood or
magnitude of a potential adverse judgment. The
Court has neither scheduled XTI’s motion for hearing nor otherwise ruled upon it. XTI nevertheless denies the allegations of
wrongdoing
contained in the complaint and is vigorously defending against the lawsuit
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
 we did not have any relationships with special purpose or variable interest entities or other which would have been
established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations
of the SEC.
 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk
 
We are a smaller reporting company as defined
by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and is not required to provide the information otherwise required under this item.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
Our financial statements are prepared in accordance
with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). In connection with the preparation of our consolidated
financial
statements, we are required to make assumptions and estimates about future events, and apply judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenue,
expenses and the related disclosures. We base our assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical
experience, current trends and other factors that management believes to
be relevant at the time our consolidated financial statements
are prepared. On a regular basis, we review the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to
ensure that our consolidated
financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with GAAP. However, because future events and their effects cannot be determined
with
certainty, actual results could differ from our assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.
 
Our significant accounting policies are discussed
 in Note 2 of the audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December  31, 2023 and 2022 which are
included elsewhere
in this filing. We believe that the following accounting estimates are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating
our reported financial
results, and they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, resulting from the need to make
estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.
There have been no changes to estimates during the periods presented
in the filing. Historically changes in management estimates have not been material.
 
Stock Based Compensation
 
We account for stock-based compensation in accordance
with the guidance of ASC 718. Under the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718, stock-based compensation
cost is measured at the
grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period, which is generally
the option
vesting period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options.
 
We measure compensation expense for our non-employee
stock-based compensation under ASC 718. The fair value of the option issued or committed to be issued is used to
measure the transaction,
as this is more reliable than the fair value of the services received. The fair value is measured at the value of the Company’s
common stock or stock
award on the date that the commitment for performance by the counterparty has been reached or the counterparty’s
performance is complete. The fair value of the equity
instrument is charged directly to stock-based compensation expense and credited
to additional paid-in capital.
 
The assumptions used in calculating the fair value
 of stock-based awards represent management’s best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management’s
judgment. As a result, if factors change and management uses different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be materially
different for future
awards.
 
The expected life of stock options was estimated
using the “simplified method,” as we have limited historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future
exercise
patterns and employment duration for our stock options grants. The simplified method is based on the average of the vesting tranches and
the contractual life of each
grant. For stock price volatility, the Company uses comparable public companies as a basis for the expected
volatility to calculate the fair value of options grants. The risk-free
interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with a term approximating
the expected life of the option. The estimation of the number of stock awards that will ultimately vest
requires judgment, and to the
extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the Company’s current estimates, such amounts are recognized as an adjustment
 in the
period in which estimates are revised.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
 
A long-lived asset (including amortizable identifiable
intangible assets) or asset group is tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its
carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Conditions that may indicate impairment include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in
customer demand or business
climate that could affect the value of an asset, a product recall or an adverse action or assessment by a
regulator. When indicators of impairment are present, we evaluate the
carrying value of the long-lived assets in relation to the operating
performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying assets. We adjust the net book value of the
long-lived assets to fair
value if the sum of the expected future cash flows is less than book value. No impairment charge for long-lived assets were recorded for
the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
We follow guidance in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement,
where fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are determined within a framework that establishes a three-tier
hierarchy
which maximizes the use of observable market data and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs to establish a classification
 of fair value measurements for disclosure
purposes. Inputs may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect the assumptions
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market
data obtained from sources independent of our business.
Unobservable inputs reflect our own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability
based on the information available.
 
Income Taxes
 
In accordance with ASC 740 “Income Taxes”
(“ASC 740”), management routinely evaluates the likelihood of the realization of its income tax benefits and the recognition
of its
deferred tax assets. In evaluating the need for any valuation allowance, management will assess whether it is more likely than
not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax
asset may not be realized on a jurisdictional basis. Ultimately, the realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during those
periods in which temporary differences become
deductible and/or tax credits and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilized. In performing its analyses, management considers both
positive
and negative evidence including historical financial performance, previous earnings patterns, future earnings forecasts, tax planning
strategies, economic and business
trends and the potential realization of net operating loss carry-forwards within a reasonable timeframe.
To this end, management considered (i) that we have had historical
losses in the prior years and cannot anticipate generating a sufficient
level of future profits in order to realize the benefits of our deferred tax asset; (ii) tax planning strategies;
and (iii) the adequacy
of future income as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, based upon certain economic conditions and historical losses through
December 31,
2023. After consideration of these factors, management deemed it appropriate to establish a full valuation allowance
with respect to the deferred tax assets.
 
The Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties on uncertain
tax positions as a component of income tax expense. No interest or penalties were recorded during the
years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
See Note 2 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this filing
for more information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements.
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